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These short stories (in Hindi, English, Spanish, French and 

German languages) have been carved out from the Case Book 

on Strategic Management by the same authors. Each story 

has some meaningful obvious and/or non-obvious lesson(s) 

and can push management educationists and practitioners (at 

various levels) alike to ponder over issues that often donôt 

draw our attention, but are relevant for the growth of the 

individual, organization and country and make them think of 

actions that they can take for the purpose. 
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 Tales of Grandfather: A Journey of Experiences 
 
In October 1991, I (Krishna Kumar) visited Spain under an EU-

Exchange programme. A truly cosmopolitan professor, who had 

been a UNDP consultant, said that India couldnôt develop. I felt 

upset at such a sweeping statement. Later we became friends and 

started working on a research project: óTechnology transfer from 

Spain to Indiaô. He happened to visit India in December 1991 to 

attend a conference. India had just started opening her economy. 

On his return, he said with lots of excitement, ñIndia is changing.ò 

We then proceeded to design the questionnaire of the study. We 

had almost completed the design when he visited India once again 

in April 1992. On his return, he had second thoughts on the very 

topic of research. I was perturbed as time was running out for me. 

The following conversation followed:  

 

Prof. X: I have second thoughts on the very relevance of the topic.  

Me        :  Donôt say this now. We have spent three months designing 

the questionnaire. If we donôt mail it now, we canôt finish it 

by May end.  

Prof. X: No, no I am serious.  

Me : But, why do you think so?  

Prof. X : Because I find that what India needs we donôt have, and 

what we have, your country does not need.  

Me : Professor, it is too complex a statement. Why canôt you be 

specific? 

Prof. X : Look, Indians are no less endowed intellectually nor 

natural resource-wise. But every technological 

development is embedded in the socio-cultural context of 

that society. What you need is to learn to organise to 

deliver, and only your people, in the context that they live 

in, can design the product, services and technology, rooted 

in the natural endowment, supplier base and skills of the 

people there. It is a managerial challenge so to speak.  

 

This triggered a thought. Were we looking forward to solutions 

elsewhere, rather than looking inwards for the traits of Indian 

society that inhibit searching of new ways of development? It led 
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to a note on óEconomic Development & Mindsetsô. Twenty-five 

years later, we find that there may be several other factors often 

intertwined with each other.  

 

This set of short stories gives a glimpse of the capability of the 

Indian people, their weaknesses and strengths showing the way to 

look forward. The stories also reveal how threats and constraints 

can be converted into wonderful opportunities. They also give 

several insights into our understanding of resources and assets and 

how the dynamics of environmental development, resource 

utilisation and development are intertwined for opportunity 

creation.  

 

I hope it will help managers, faculty members and research 

scholars in getting ideas and thoughts to work on. For faculty 

members, it may also be useful in educational and 

management/faculty development programmes. 

 

Prof. Krishna Kumar  

Prof. Ritu Srivastava 

Ruchi Srivastava 

Teachers Day 

Sept. 5, 2017 

Lucknow  
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1. Do We Matter? 
 

Way back in 1974, Mr. Govindram was transferred from the Indore 

plant of Takshashila Engineering Corporation Ltd. to the 

Bangalore plant. He was assigned to the Thermal Sales department 

and given the job of handling spares and repair orders, which was 

not considered a prestigious assignment.  

 

On a Monday morning, an Executive Engineer (EE) from a major 

thermal power station in the eastern region came to his office and 

asked for some turbine thrust pads (a part of a split bearing of large 

steam turbines) repaired for a 100 MW turbine. Almost half of the 

thermal power station was shut down and repair of the items could 

restore 20-25% of capacity. Mr. Govindram asked him to leave the 

item and go back but the EE insisted that the work be done 

immediately. Govindram was irritated (partly due to his own 

frustration of insignificant work assigned to him, partly because he 

felt he was a public sector enterprise employee and partly because 

he was sure that no one at workshops would accept the same as 

urgent work). However, after a while, he agreed to try it out. On 

being asked, he told the EE to book his return ticket for Friday.  

 

He then visited the workshop for getting the babitting done. As 

expected, the workshop Foreman refused to undertake the job 

saying that no worker would do that because they were getting an 

incentive (overtime) for attending to the main sets, i.e., new 

thermal power equipment. On his suggestion to get it done during 

the night shift, the Foreman laughed saying night shift was not for 

work; it was when they (workers) slept. He, however, agreed to try 

when Govindram asked him to book overtime and get the work 

done during his night shift. Govindram was pleasantly surprised 

when he visited the workshop the next day as the Foreman had got 

the job done. He then visited the machine shop and made a similar 

request. The trick worked and on Wednesday morning, the items 

were ready.  

 

Delighted with this great achievement of having done something 

extraordinary, he sent the message to the guest house to inform the 
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EE that he should come and collect the item. The guest house 

caretaker informed him that the room was locked. Later on in the 

evening, the caretaker informed him that the EE was still not there 

although his luggage was seen in the room. Thursday also passed. 

Govindram got worried. Even the idea of the EEôs kidnapping 

crossed his mind. He talked to his boss and it was decided to wait 

that night before lodging an FIR for the missing EE the next day.  

 

On Friday morning, however, the EE appeared in Govindramôs 

office and asked sarcastically whether the work was done. This 

infuriated Govindram and the following altercation followed.  

 

Govindram: That I shall tell you later. First, tell me where you have 

you been for the last two days? 

EE  : That is none of your business. Give the items if they 

are ready. 

Govindram: You better tell me, else I will not give those items to 

you. Instead, I shall send the same to your Chairman, 

requesting him to sack you. How can the Electricity 

Board profit with an EE like you?  

EE  : What have I done? You asked me to come on Friday. 

I have come on the dot. 

Govindram: What have you done? You told me that more than 50% 

of your thermal plant is shut down; that means more 

than 100 MW capacity is not available. One KW at Rs. 

0.50 means your electricity board lost Rs. 12 in a day, 

i.e., Rs. 24 in two days. One Megawatt (1000 KW) 

means Rs. 24,000/- loss in 2 days and 100 MW power 

station shut down for two days means Rs. 24 lakhs lost. 

I am going to tell your Chairman this and request your 

sacking. Do you realise how much loss you have 

created? 

EE  : Rs. 24 lakhs 

Govindram : (further infuriated) Rs. 24 lakhs! 100 MW is more 

than the requirement of the Bhilai Steel Plant (BSP) 

that has several hundred crores annual turnover. Do 

you realise now how much loss you have created? 

EE  : (now shocked) Over Rs. 2 crs.ò  
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Govindram : Over Rs. 2 crs? Where does the steel go? BSL 

supplies steel for railway tracks. You have made 

railways lose out revenue that could have come through 

incremental expansions of tracks. A similar loss has 

occurred to other customers of BSL. Do you know how 

much the Indian economy has lost because of you? 

This is what I am going to write to your Chairman. 

Now tell me where have you been for the last two days?  

EE  : (now apologetic) I am sorry. Indeed I did not realise 

the gravity of my absence. You know there is hardly 

any opportunity for us to come to this side. Since you 

asked me to come on Friday, I thought of making use 

of this time to go and see Mysore, Vrindavan Gardens, 

Ooty, etc. It never occurred to me that you would be 

able to get the work done in two days and the power 

station could be put in service two days ahead and a 

huge national wastage could be avoided. In the future, 

I promise I will never do this as I canôt forget what you 

told me.  

Govindram: It is unfortunate. The direct loss you created is more 

than the salary of all the staff of your plant for the 

whole month. Even if all your staff was given LTC, the 

amount would have been less. OK. Now when you go 

back, please send me the order for spares required to 

keep the plant up. You know, if you had spares, you 

could have saved one full week, and almost 2% of 

annual revenue loss of your power station and its 

customers could have been avoided.  

EE  : Thanks. I will do it.  
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éééééééééééééééééééééééééé  

P.S. 

Sharing the incident with a friend later, Govindram said, ñAlthough 

I was not sure that I could get the job done in two days and was 

furious with the EE, honestly I myself had not realised how we 

mattered. Remember the way I had responded when the EE came 

to me on Mondayò.  

éééééééééééééééééééééééééé 

Forty years later, after retirement, Govindram was wondering 

whether one realises how he matters to the country even today. 

Why else had the richest industrialist chopped off gas supply of 

close to 17,000 MW generating capacity gas-based power stations 

for several months? How many politicians, media persons, 

bureaucrats, doctors, even academicians, at various levels realise 

how much they matter to the country? Above all what needs to be 

done to bring about this realisation? 
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2.  The Hanumans of India 
  

Indians mesmerize me by their capacity to deliver. The first 

surprise came when we introduced a computer in our office on an 

experimental basis. An assistant finished typing 25 pages in one 

day when assistants were typing up to five-six pages a day on a 

typewriter. I thought it was exceptional individual excellence but 

when I increased PGP intake from 35 to 105, the non-teaching staff 

strength remained the same, while the workload in every 

department from the duplicating room to the Studentsô Affairs 

Office Placement Office, PGP office, library and even accounts 

office had increased threefold. Even among the teaching staff, the 

number of faculty members increased marginally from 22 to 24 (it 

had indeed reduced from 22 to 20 in the first year). 

  

As if that was not enough to convince me, when I reached IIM 

Kozhikode, I found that there were 30 non-teaching staff when the 

PGP intake was 60 and it remained the same when the intake went 

to 120, 180 and even 260. Thus, I found the non-teaching staff 

strength of 30 could take care of 30-60-120-180-260 intake in PGP. 

The case of the faculty was the same. The number of faculty 

members was 20 when we had an intake of 60; it increased to 24 

when the intake was 120; it was the same when the intake went to 

180 (indeed reduced to 17 in the first year); and it was only 28 when 

the intake went up to 260. This faculty strength also had taken a 

load of 240 participants of online programmes, close to ten week-

long faculty development programmes (making institute leaders in 

both) besides conducting the usual MDPS and conferences. At 

which stage were they fully utilised? I donôt know. 

  

But what I conclude is that Indians are great deliverers. At times, 

we donôt set challenges. Are Indians HANUMANS? Can we ever 

utilise them fully? To me it remains a leadership and HRD 

challenge.                

(The Hindu, March 12, 2017) 
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3. The Kick of Creativity  
 

Phase II of construction work of the IMP Instituteôs campus was 

getting delayed so much that only 40% progress was reported in 24 

months for a project that was to be completed in just 15 months. 

The Phase II work included, inter-alia, a staff dining hall for 50 

persons.  

 

A new Director joined the institute. He felt that the 50 seater dining 

hall, which was being used for staff dining as a stopgap 

arrangement, would prove to be inadequate for a growing institute 

as was evident from the crowd at lunchtime. There was no dining 

facility for participants of low-key management training 

programmes (MDP) for want of hostel, dining and classroom 

facilities. 

 

The Director asked the architects to increase the capacity of the 

proposed staff dining hall to 100 persons. He regretted it because 

no land was available for this purpose in the campus, which was 

spread over two small hills and any unwarranted cutting of hills 

could lead to landslides, a threat the institute faced as some 

buildings around it were under construction.  

 

He pondered over the matter for a few months. One night it 

occurred to him that land means area, which is expressed on the X   

and Y axes. What about the Z axis that he studied in geometry and 

building drawing? An idea then crossed his mind and he suggested 

to the architects that they design a 100 seater dining hall, 

expandable to 200 (by raising one more floor), erecting pillars on 

both sides of the road (no more cutting of the hill was required) and 

making the dining hall above the road. The architects designed it. 

The Director then requested to make it a 200 seater one, expandable 

to 400 seats. The architects then made a new design, which could 

accommodate 150 seats comfortably on each of the two floors 

(including a VIP dining room on each floor). It also had a service 

area on each floor, which could accommodate another 15-20 seats. 

The pillars on the valley side of the road were so wide that two 

small rooms could be carved, which could be used as 20 seater 
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seminar rooms, as rooms for small Management Development 

Programmes (MDP) or as additional dining rooms, thus taking the 

total capacity to about 400.  

 

Rains in Kerala are heavy and a roof had to be provided for shelter 

and to avoid the accumulation of water. Very strong aluminium 

sheets covering the entire roof had to be used to withstand the high 

velocity of winds coming directly from the Arabian Sea. The iron 

rails surrounding the roof were not considered safe and hence walls 

with doors and windows had to be constructed to cover the sides, 

which converted the top floor also into a large dining hall (which 

could be used even for conference purposes), taking the total 

seating capacity of the staff dining hall to almost 600 (which could 

accommodate an even higher number in a buffet arrangement).  

 

The initial capacity of the 50 seater staff dining hall thus went up 

tenfold. The Rs. 60 lakh estimated cost went up to Rs. 160 lakhs, 

but the impressive three-story dining hall could meet the 

requirements of not only the staff even when the academic 

activities tripled but also accommodated students of increased 

intake and participants of (MDP) for the next seven to eight years 

(till new facilities were created). 

 

Was increased capacity a kick of creativity? Is delay in project 

completion a bane or a blessing in disguise? Is constraint as serious 

an entity as land an opportunity to grow? How much capacity 

augmentation could be done by architects through creative designs, 

if one requests them?  These questions make one ponder like a 

strategist. More examples of this can be seen in stories 10, 13, 16, 

17, 19 and elsewhere.  

http://www.ekhaikk.in/system/tdf/uploads/cases%20vol%20I%20w_0.pdf?file=1&type=node&id=256&force=
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4. Gifts of God 
 

Way back, perhaps in October 1996, the Board of Governors of 

IMX agreed to a suggestion of a faculty member on the Board to 

increase PGP intake from 120 to 180, much against the wishes of 

Director. The physical infrastructure was expedited and the intake 

was increased to 180 in July 1997.  

 

However, the problem of faculty also existed in certain areas like 

strategic management. There were two compulsory courses in the 

second yearðstrategy formulation and strategy implementationð 

and there were two faculty members, Prof. Pathak and Prof. Bose. 

Prof. Pathak had relevant qualifications and experience. Prof. Bose 

did not have any formal qualification in the area, but having 

experience of an entrepreneurship institute had developed interest 

in the area.  

 

The following year, when it was due to increase PGP intake to 180, 

there were three sections for each course. Surprisingly, the director 

decided to give two years leave to Prof. Bose w.e.f. July 1998. Prof. 

Pathak was alone. Not many faculty members were teaching more 

than two-three course sections, but looking at the requirements of 

the Institute, Prof. Pathak agreed to teach three sections of two 

courses in the Academic Session of 1998 despite the fact that 

unlike most others, he was engaged in MDP/ FDP, research, 

attending research conferences, etc. (which was being emphasised 

by Board of Governors time and again), which resulted in his 

inability to launch new elective courses.  

 

The problem aggravated further, however, because in April 1998 

he was also appointed as the first Dean (Academic Affairs), much 

against the wishes of the Director, as the selection was done by the 

Board Committee. No one in the 30-year history of the whole IIM 

system had ever taught six courses in two terms. Setting up a new 

office of Dean (AA), where confusion was created by the Director, 

was itself a task.  
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He made efforts to get guest or visiting faculty but to no avail. A 

faculty from LBS agreed to teach half the course but that was not 

enough. The evaluation load of three sections each in two 

consecutive terms was difficult to complete in time. Dr. Pathak, 

therefore, redesigned the two courses by merging them into 1.5 

courses (45 hrs instead of two courses of 60 hrs), saving nine hours 

of project presentations/concluding session (as there was to be one 

project and one concluding session in each class). He also deleted 

two topics to shift these to other elective courses on the 

management of change and transformation. He was to take 

approximately a four-course load in one term, besides other 

responsibilities.  

 

It was not easy to get the approval of the Faculty Council where 

some vociferous faculty members questioned reduction from two 

courses of 60 hours to one course of 45 hours. The argument that 

no other institution had more than one course did not cut the ice. 

The inability to teach six courses by one faculty also did not find 

favour, as some faculty members who themselves were not doing 

more than three-four courses, maintained that the course should not 

be merged to accommodate the convenience of a faculty member. 

Finally, in disgust, Prof. Pathak asked the Faculty Council how the 

institute would run the courses if he fell sick or died? There was no 

answer and the merging of the course was approved.  

 

A month and a half later, he was to present a research paper at the 

WACRA International Conference at Marseille, France, which was 

rare those days. The Boardôs permission was required for such 

visits. It was only the second time a faculty was going for an 

international conference, after Prof. Pathakôs last visit five years 

ago. The SM course was to start immediately thereafter.  

 

However, as luck would have it, on 25th June, 1998, he met with 

an accident. The minibus carrying family members in a marriage 

party turtled upside down on the highway. ñI saw death in close 

quarters,ò he said. Luckily, a police van rushed him to the nearest 

hospital. 12 of 15 persons were injured badly, including Dr. Pathak. 

A finger of his left hand was crushed and his right hand scapula 
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had cracked. There was no reservation available to return and he 

was not in a good enough condition for a road journey. ñI was 

anxious and feeling shattered, little realising the designs of God,ò 

he said.  

 

A week later he could go to his home town and meet the 

orthopaedic surgeon there. He said his hand couldnôt be plastered 

but a hanging bandage could be used as elbow support. He also 

mentioned that recovery could take time.  

 

The Doctor was in awe when Prof. Pathak asked him whether he 

could go for the above-mentioned conference in that condition two 

days later. After a while, he composed himself and enquired how 

Prof. Pathak would go and whether he would come in contact with 

the crowd, the latter question to which Prof. Pathak replied to in 

the negative. Prof. Pathak realised that though his hands could not 

lift a load, he could walk and other than his two injuries, he was by 

and large OK. He went to the market and bought a slightly large 

handbag. He also realised the two injuries were at different points. 

Then he selected shirts with the widest possible sleeves and tried 

to wear one with the help of his thumb and index finger of the left 

hand. Slowly, he could wear the left sleeve also because his elbow 

was OK even though his scapula was cracked. He slowly packed 

other items in the bag, and slowly lifted the flap of the bag with his 

right hand and put it on his left shoulder. Slowly he stood up and 

walked. Lo and behold, he was ready for the journey.  

 

The Doctor allowed him. It was a great experience for Prof. Pathak. 

So many people from Lucknow to Marseille and back volunteered 

to give him comfort. To cut the story short, he finished his journey, 

got applause for the transformation case, and returned, losing his 

glasses on the way back.  

 

When he reached Lucknow, he could not write with his right hand 

nor could he read.  

 

How would he conduct class then? Also, he did not have his 

glasses, so how would he prepare for class?  
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ñLuckily my case book had been published and the first few 

sessions had either cases from the book or the ones which I had 

taught for over ten years but how to conduct class? My right hand 

could not move above the waist. I tried my left hand, but it did not 

work. Next day, I lifted the wrist of my right hand with the support 

of my left hand and started writing from the bottom of the board. 

Then I tried to lift a bit more. Every day I tried to lift a bit more 

and lo and behold, within two weeks, I was able to write even at 

the top of the board. The rest of the course could be finished easily 

and even the workload of the Dean and part of the workload of the 

director (whose term had expired, and not extended even by a day) 

could be sustained. The Doctor said that if I had not gathered 

courage to conduct classes, recovery would have taken a lot more 

time. I discovered the flexibility God had provided to use the body 

in an improvised manner. God has given us so much, but we do 

not realise it. If a four course load is finished in one term of three 

months, why were faculty members up in arms in 2009 against the 

policy of teaching for a minimum of 120 hrs? Did they realise the 

Almighty had gifted them with the ability to take at least 16 course 

workload in a year, instead of six only. That holds us from serving 

the society as much as we can,ò he concluded.  

 

éééééééééééééééééééééééééé.

Prof. Pathak was amused when 18 years later, after retirement, he 

came to learn that as per the official records he had taught only one 

and a half course credit instead of four. 
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5.  Assets or Liabilities? 
 

Sometime in the early nineties, after writing the case study on 

Scooter India Limited, I was conducting an exercise on creativity 

in the class of the MCT course. Scooter India was focussing on 

two-wheelers at that time. To generate ideas, I took the example of 

Vikram three-wheeler, which I had suggested as a means of 

turnaround. The same plant and machinery could be used for 

manufacture of both the vehicles. The question asked was what is 

Vikram? It is an auto rickshaw that can easily accommodate eight 

persons and has a fuel efficiency of 32 kms per litre of diesel, 

making it the most economical passenger transport vehicle.  

 

When prompted, students thought of converting it into an air- 

conditioned passenger car (not so much in use those days due to 

cost considerations). Further prompting led to ideas of cargo low-

cost carriers (with change of attachment) from city to village. With 

change in attachments, it could carry milk, vegetable and food 

grains from the village to the city, and grocery items to the village. 

A question about wheels led to the idea of a óstaticô vehicle that 

could be used as village entertainment, a mobile library, mobile 

toilets, water-lifting pump for irrigation, thresher,   and so on. All 

were surprised by how a wonderful design imported from abroad 

could be converted into a roaring business. If only we had the 

capability to improvise. Dr. Sahay focussed on three- wheelers to 

turnaround Scooters India Ltd. 

 

It is not only the availability of technological resources that are our 

assets. Assets include the managerial ability to convert these 

resources into assets. Perhaps our managerial understanding of the 

asset needs to be changed. Instead of using the accounting concept 

of asset (valued at the cost at which the resource was acquired), the 

managerial concept of asset would include the ability to utilise it. 

Resources possessed or acquired are not assets for without the 

ability to utilise them for developing and providing some useful 

or desirable public good or service, it could be a liability. This 

holds true for all assets, be it financial, physical, human, 

organisational or network resources. Without this ability, an 
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organisation or country may not be able to develop, prosper and 

remain independent, despite the abundance of resources. If 

resources are not utilised, they can become a big liability. If 

misutilised, this could be a disaster.  
 

Thus, India faces a major challenge in terms of converting óbrainô 

and óheartô resources, given by God in the form of the burgeoning 

population, into Assets, rather than using its physical organs only 

(as labour) and measuring it in terms of numbers (like counting 

donkeys or cows). The government, instead of thinking of giving 

employment only (something which the country has been trying all 

along) has to start looking at youth as an Asset. 

 

ASSETS 
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http://www.smgi.in/assets.pdf
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6.  The First Beneficiary of OBC Reservation 
 

ñIn our Institute, benefits came on their own. One did not have to 

bother too much for performance. One could get penalised if he 

attempted to perform beyond a point,ò said an amused Dr. 

Narendra Mohan, sipping coffee in the faculty tea club.  

 

Dr. Mohan came to IMX on deputation under an agreement 

between the Institute and his employer, under which the Institute 

was to allow him to attend to the tasks of the employer organisation 

up to three months in a year. In return, the employer paid the 

difference of salary (about one-third) and also bore the deputation 

allowance. He taught more courses than others, and engaged in 

academic administration, research and MDP, etc., over and above 

the employerôs assignments.  

 

However, at the end of deputation, the Institute neither released 

him nor completed the formalities of permanent absorption. As a 

result, the employer did not transfer any benefit like leave salary, 

gratuity or even provident fund. He was selected and offered the 

professorôs position but his pay was fixed in such a way that the 

normal increment was deferred by nine months. He was also fixed 

at a pay lower than what he was drawing on deputation.  

 

When he became MBA Chairman and increased MBA intake 

threefold, the fourth pay revision came, under which his pay was 

fixed in such a way that he started drawing three increments less 

vis-à-vis a professor who drew two increments less than him before 

revision. There were many such aberrations.    

 

ñHowever, the last one was the master stroke. The Govt. of India 

introduced a so-called HAG scale. By that time, I had come to the 

fag end of my career. I had been in the Institute for over 25 years 

then, the first faculty to achieve such a feat. Towards this, unique 

performance criteria were decided, much against and in 

contravention of the government guidelines and orders. The 

Performance Evaluation Committeeôs members had to speak lies. 

Still I qualified. As a last-ditch effort, the Institute postponed the 
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date of implementation by three years, as I would retire by then. 

Interestingly, alongside the Board also decided, as a policy, that if 

a superannuation professor has completed just six yearsô service as 

full professor, he/ she will be awarded the HAG scale, irrespective 

of performance,ò said Rd. Mohan. Thus, all the professors 

including the ones whom the Evaluation Committee had reported 

as non-performers. got the HAG scale, except Dr. Mohan, who had 

25 yearsô of distinguished service1. 

 

ñSo you did not get any benefit ever?ò asked some young 

inquisitive faculty members.  

 

ñNo, no. Mila na. I got it once, but on account of OBC quota based 

reservation, although I do not belong to the OBC category,ò said 

Dr. Mohan. 

 

ñHow come?ò The Faculty members were now getting more 

curious.  

 

ñActually, when I joined here, I was quite old, say around 40 years, 

only 20 yearsô service left. Then when the government increased 

the retirement age to 62 years, I still could not get full pension, 

which was possible if the Institute had properly handled my 

transfer of service. In 2007, the Central Government introduced the 

OBC quota and asked to increase PGP intake by 54%. It was a great 

opportunity. But many IIMs opposed this move as there was an 

acute shortage of faculty. To counter that, the Central Government 

increased the date of superannuation from 62 years to 65 years for 

those who were on rolls as on 15.3.2007. I was to retire on June 6, 

2008. There was a case against the quota in the Honôble Supreme 

Court and later in the Calcutta High Court. But both of them 

rejected the petition. We had to admit OBC quota. That gave me 

the opportunity to increase PGP intake in IMP by 85% in the first 

year and surpass it by 10% the next year.ò 

 

ñBut what benefits did you get?ò the faculty members asked. 

 

ñFirstly, I got three yearsô additional service at full pay. Then the  

http://www.smgi.in/cases/c51abstract.pdf
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full pension benefit was given on completion of 20 yearsô service, 

that too at revised pay, so were the gratuity, leave encashment and 

other benefits. It more than compensated the denials by the 

Institute. I am thus a true beneficiary on account of OBC quota. 

OBC students joined on 22nd June, but I escaped retirement on sixth 

June 2008, making me the first beneficiary of OBC quota in my 

Institute. You know, man proposes, God disposes,ò smiled Dr. 

Mohan. 

 

ñOh, anything else?ò the faculty members laughed in chorus. 

 

ñI got the opportunity to engage in almost every type of academic 

activity and academic administration task, which no other faculty 

member in my time was able to do. Not only that, I was made one 

of the first Deans in IMX, and was the first Director from the 

Institute to a Central Government institute, IMP. Just a few months 

back, new rules were made to allow five years leave. This helped 

me fulfil all the dreams I had for IMX. I could contribute to all-

round growth and financial viability. When I joined IMP, the last 

batch of 60 PGP students was passing out and when I returned five 

years later, the first batch of 300 students was getting in, a fivefold 

rise in seven years. I struggled to have the first conference here, but 

in IMP I could get 17 conferences organised in five years. A 

Doctoral programme was started there in the 11th year while we 

took 15 years here. We struggled to have one FDP in a year; there 

we could organise 50 programmes in five years. To cap it all, we 

could spread PGP to working executives in their cities through an 

online programme. Financially, we could grow a corpus fund of 

about Rs. 85 crores in five years. What more could I wish for? Bin 

mange hi bhagwan ne kuch de dia itna, ki mangne me aane lagi hai 

sharam mujhko,ò concluded Dr. Mohan. 

   

The young faculty members were spellbound. Was this the 

objective for which MHRD introduced the HAG scale? They were, 

however, happy to note that they would get at least the highest scale 

without any worry about performance.  
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They also wondered whether MHRD could create excellent, world-

class management institutions in India. 

 

Click here to get the moral of story->   kabhi kisi ko mukammil 

jahan nahin milta 

 

  

http://www.smgi.in/kabhi.mp3
http://www.smgi.in/kabhi.mp3
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7.  Manpower 
 

A few years back, I was invited by two loss-making (sick) 

companies (with a common executive director) to conduct a half-

day program on Managing Turnaround and Transformation  for 

the employees of each of these. Since I had been conducting a full 

PGP effective course in an IIM for several years and also a few 

MDPs, I tended to consider myself as an expert in the field. 

 

Anyway, I conducted a three-and-a-half-hour module on the topic 

for the executives of each of the two companies, in a common 

training centre, and I included my favourite topic Creative 

Problem Solving for turnaround management. I was quite happy 

and satisfied (as the senior executive/officers seemed to understand 

and enjoy the inputs). The common valedictory session was to be 

held at the end of the day.  

 

The valedictory was to be delivered to the participants by the 

common Executive Director. As his arrival was delayed and our 

wait was long, one Chief Manager asked, ñBut in the final analysis, 

Sir, donôt you think that the turnaround in our company canôt be 

achieved unless the manpower is cut to half?ò  

 

I was taken aback by the question. My eight hours down the drain, 

I thought. I, however, composed myself and wrote the word 

óMan/powerô on the board with a slash between man and power 

and asked, ñWhich one do you want to reduce to half: man or 

power?ò 

 

The Chief Manager fumbled for a while and then said, ñMan.ò  

 

I then asked, ñWhat would you do if the ómanô is reduced to half?ò  

 

He again fumbled and said, ñI did not understand your question.ò 

 

I told him, ñIf the man is reduced to half, he will lose his job, then 

what will you do?ò  
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He then said, ñI did not mean I should be terminated. I meant the 

workers. ò  

 

I asked, ñDid workers recruit you all by themselves? If you 

recruited them and then didnôt utili se them, then who should be 

sacked?ò  

 

They got the point that the management of human turnaround is 

possible only if executives collectively assume responsibility for 

retraining and redeployment of workers to move to a new strategy.  

 

The obsession with quick fixes like ódownsizingô and óexitô has led 

to Indian companies prematurely closing down, with a colossal 

waste of physical, financial and human resources. More 

importantly, the episode made me wonder whether the word 

manpower is understood correctly as asset.  

 

It takes huge effort to create the power (to deliver), but it is wasted 

by wrong understanding and loose usage of the word ómanpowerô 

in a mechanistic way, instead of working towards improving 

utili sation of the power created. Increasing power in ómenô and 

utili sing it becomes an organisation-wide responsibility of 

executives and managers at various levels, so that they become 

capable of increasing the delivery capacity of the organisation 

without adding more ómenô.  

 

Indeed, if due care is not taken ópowerô keeps on reducing and 

organisations with relatively more ómanpowerô may need more 

ómanpowerô (than the ones that work towards increasing power), 

with attended economic losses. 
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8.  The Thieves 
 

Once we were going from Ranchi to Dhanbad for the site selection 

visit of a new IIM. On the way, we observed a large number of 

people carrying a gunny bag, delicately balancing the overhanging 

portion on the two sides of the central frame of their cycles. The 

road had an inclined slope. When the slope went upwards, they 

would get down and pull the cycle and load. There was a wooden 

rod tied on one side, which was used as a stand. It was not one or 

two instances but we found several people, perhaps a few dozen on 

our way. 

 

They were not in groups, but carried the load as individuals, 

separated from each other by furlongs. They looked tired and were 

perspiring. We, the óoutsidersô, asked the accompanying hosts who 

these people carrying coal like this were. ñThese peopleò, the host 

said, ñengage in a sort of illegal mining; they excavate coal from 

open ýelds, perhaps in lots of about 100 kg and start walking long 

distances, selling small quantities to needy customers in villages to 

make some money to run the family. They return only when they 

have sold all the bags. This could take one to five days.ò 

 

ñThieves,ò yelled one of the experts in the accompanying team, 

ñStealing coal!ò The driver of our vehicle, who was quietly 

listening to us thus far, now lost his cool and retorted, ñThey are 

not thieves. They work hard to excavate some coal, they walk long 

distances to sell it to needy people at the least possible price and 

return home with some money to get a square meal for the family. 

After all, the villagers, dhaba wallas, etc. all need coal and get these 

at the least price. Somebody has to take coal out from the mines 

and deliver it to the customers Donôt large companies and the 

government do the same thing? The only difference is that these 

users get it at five to ten times higher prices from them. These 

people canôt make huge proýts as they canôt excavate, carry and 

sell large quantities and thereby sell at high price.ò  

 

I wondered whether they were thieves or if this label suited some 

large corporates, who did such things in such an organised way, 
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paying less for labour costs, charging customers higher prices and 

restricting supplies to earn windfall proýt. What is the demarcation 

line between a thief and one who does not steal? 
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9.  Who is Better Off? 
 

Once in a management development program, a very interesting 

point cropped up: Who is better off? The one who knows all or the 

one who does not?  

 

The first response of the class was: the one who knows all. But 

soon it was realised the statement is a utopian one. The person who 

believes he knows all lives in a foolôs paradise. Is the one who 

ódoes not know allô better off? No, he would be stupid. Perhaps the 

person who does not know all is better off only if he also realises 

that he does know all, as he would be aware of his serious 

limitations and would try to overcome the deficiency, whenever a 

particular body of knowledge is required. What is then important 

is that the person should know a person(s) who knows more than 

him, if not experts in the field.  

 

This brings to the fore an important resource that needs to be 

acquired, developed or cultivated, that of networking with experts 

in various fields where to carry out oneôs job responsibilities 

specialised knowledge may be required. In business/management, 

we need expert knowledge of varying depth from different fields 

often all of a sudden (not necessarily in a crisis situation).  

 

Developing this network resource, consciously and proactively, 

becomes an important exercise for professional and non- 

professional managers alike. The advantage it gives is that one 

doesnôt need to learn all subjects as an expert does for (hopefully) 

using it in the future, but needs to know enough to ask relevant 

questions and engage with experts in the network resource to get 

as much information as needed when required. Incidentally, 

experts also have their professional groups to solicit more precise 

and accurate information in as much detail as needed.  

 

The network resource means not just having a list of names and 

telephone numbers of experts, but a close relationship with people 

who are responsive persons as friends. Once you have developed 
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it, you are relieved of acquiring all the knowledge and becoming a 

óknow-allô. At the same time, you will know enough to discharge 

duties meaningfully, promptly and efficiently. 
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10.  Power of a Missed Meal 
 

ñThere are various stakeholders in any organisation. In our 

Institute, they were faculty members, officers, staff members, 

students, Board members and MHRD representatives.  Each one 

has different expectations and consciously or otherwise has created 

problems, which I found were difficult to handle. Luckily, not all 

of them came at the same time,ò said the Director. 

 

ñAfter four years of being in the position of Director, I was happy; 

the Institute had grown despite various constraints and all the 

stakeholders were happy barring some officers, who demanded 

elevation to positions that did not exist and the MHRD was not 

prepared to consider creations of higher level positions despite the 

requests by the Directors of various institutions. 

 

ñHowever, one fine morning, we faced a totally unexpected 

development that shocked us.  We had made an advertisement for 

security and housekeeping contracts. The agency that had assumed 

charge for both the services six years ago had agreed for renewal 

on a nominal increase three years ago, but was reluctant to continue 

as the staff were agitating for a 50% increase in monthly 

compensation, allegedly at the instance of local political leaders of 

the four main national parties and some insiders. Some office 

bearers of the instituteôs staff union had told me earlier that they 

were instigating them to go for agitation. ñWe, therefore, floated 

tenders for the two services,ò he continued. 

 

The tenders were invited and a committee was constituted to 

examine the same and make recommendations for the award of 

contracts.  The committee finalised and called for negotiation with 

two parties, S1 and S2, who had made the lowest tender for security 

and housekeeping, respectively.  Since the city was small with a 

total population of five lakhs, the previous agency employed 

workers from the neighbouring area.  The new agencies also had to 

bank on them as bringing security guards and housekeeping staff 

from outside the city was not possible. 
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The problem was that both the security as well as housekeeping 

services provided proposed a reduction in the number of persons to 

two third of the existing manpower. Allegedly on the instigation of 

local politicians belonging to four different national political 

parties, the workers demanded a 50% hike in monthly payment 

(governed under the Minimum Wages Act). The Central 

Government had issued a circular asking centrally funded 

institutions to reduce expenses by 10% as an economic measure. 

 

While the issue could be amicably settled with the security service 

provider, who was under the supervision of a former army colonel, 

the same was not getting settled with the service provider for 

housekeeping, which did not have a strong supervisor locally.  A 

young person deputed for the purpose was threatened by outside 

unions with dire consequences (life threats) if he entered the 

campus. The matter could not be settled and for some 15 days, 

workers did not attend work. The campus started stinking, with no 

solution in sight. 

 

In the meantime, due to some terrorist attacks elsewhere, the 

Central Government advised not to allow any unauthorised persons 

on the campus. Since the worker had still not been formally 

engaged by the service provider 2 (S2), the Institute could not issue 

an entry pass to them. 

 

The matter heated up and one morning there was a frantic call from 

the officer dealing with the subject, informing the Director that all 

the housekeeping workers had gathered at the main gate and were 

planning to forcibly enter the gate with the support of 4 union 

leaders, some of whom were perceived to be militant.  He also 

informed that the fury was so great that there could be a serious law 

and order problem and the Instituteôs property could be damaged. 

The situation had turned very grave and frightening all of a sudden 

and the situation looked as though it would go out of control. 

 

The commander of the S1 was sitting with the Director and 

suggested that the latter should immediately request the Home 

Ministry to airlift the CISF paratroopers from Delhi to save the 
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óglassô campus. We tried to contact our ministry but that day due 

to some important function, the minister and officers could not be 

contacted. We then sent a fax to the Secretary (Home). The 

Ministry did not send CISF paratroopers but requested the DGP of 

the state government to rush help urgently. By afternoon, the IGP 

of the area reached the campus and assured us full safety, including 

positioning of police vans fitted with guns, hidden beneath the tall 

coconut trees and bushes spread throughout the campus. It gave me 

a sense of security and confidence to face the situation. But that 

alone was not the solution. The deadlock had to be broken. 

 

The officer-in-charge of security had been asking the Director to 

meet the leaders of four outside unions affiliated to four national 

political parties to discuss the matter.  The Director was reluctant 

as he had no locus standi to negotiate on behalf of the S2.  

However, to develop a solution, he was prepared to meet as a 

citizen of the area. The next day all the four union leaders came to 

meet. 

 

ñWe started at 11 a.m. and changed three interpreters as I did not 

know the local, vernacular language and they did not know either 

English or Hindi, which I knew.  It was difficult to find a solution 

as the union leaders were not willing to accept signing of individual 

agreements, which S2 stipulated as a standard practice of the 

company. The unions wanted that I should also guarantee that no 

one would be removed, which I could not agree to. Besides, there 

were two conditions in the contract, one related to the removal of 

indiscipline and another one that some of the surplus staff should 

be transferred to other establishments in the city of the S2 service 

provider, if necessary.  I did not agree to delete any of them, as I 

had no locus standi on the issue,ò said the Director.  

 

ñThe deadlock continued for three hours and at 2 p.m., my office 

assistant reminded me that lunchtime was almost over.  I asked him 

to wait.  At 3 p.m. he asked again and arranged lunch in the office. 

At 4 p.m., the union leaders requested me to have lunch.  At 5 p.m., 

they asked again.  I enquired whether they had had their lunch to 

which they replied in the affirmative. At 5.30 p.m. they requested 
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again.  I was upset. The 40 odd workers who had served the 

Institute for six years have not taken lunch, and you all who pretend 

to represent them have taken lunch. How can I swallow the meal?  

I will not be able to do it,ò the Director said. 

 

At 6 p.m. all four leaders relented and said, ñWe are agreeing to 

everything. We trust you but would like to make one request. 

Please meet the workers and tell them that they wonôt be sacked 

now for reduction of manpower as proposed by S2. They all will 

sign individual agreements also. The demand for 50% hike in 

compensation will also not be insisted up on. They all have faith in 

you. Please do not tell any administrative staff.  And please have 

lunch.ò   

 

ñI agreed to meet the workers but made it clear that I would only 

request the service provider not to do so,ò said the Director. 

 

Next day at 8 a.m. (before the office opened at 9 p.m.), all the 

people assembled on the top floor of the new dining hall on the rear 

side of the Institute.  Each one signed the agreement, collected the 

security pass, had a cup of tea, and resumed duty at 9 p.m. when 

the Institute offices opened. 

 

ñI had never realised the power of missing a meal as a substitute 

for bullets and guns but could now imagine the power Gandhijiôs 

óAnnashanô command that contributed to the independence of 

India,ò he concluded. 

 

Later, even the Director wondered whether and how far and under 

what circumstances this could still work in Indian organisations.  
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11. The Popat 
 

I was working in a bankôs staff college some decades ago. The 

salary was reasonably OK for a decent living. We used to invest in 

PPF and NSC to reduce tax under section 88C (now 88). Our office 

was on the fifth floor and the Administrative office in the basement. 

The Principalôs office was on the first floor. 

 

One day towards the end of March (perhaps 28th March), I 

happened to go to the basement. The Administrative Officer, Mr. 

Vaibhav, did not impress us as a very sharp person and in a lighter 

vein, we used to call him Popat. He saw me and asked me why my 

savings were so small and why I was paying so much of income 

tax (roughly 40%). The following interesting conversation took 

place. 

 

Me : How can I have more savings? With a lot of effort, I have 

been able to save Rs. 3000/- (my one month salary). 

Popat : It is too less, Dr. Saheb. You must save at least Rs. 10,000/-

, if not more. 

Me : How can I do it? I canôt cut my expenses any more. 

Popat : No, no, no, you donôt need to cut expenses. 

Me : (surprised) Then how do I save? 

Popat : Do you know that our bank gives a loan on NSC? 

Me : Yes, but what to do with it? Whatôs the benefit? 

Popat : You know you can get the employee loan up to 90% of your 

NSC, at 12% interest? 

Me : But I get only 12% on NSC. Whatôs the benefit? 

Popat : If you get 90% loan on your Rs. 3000/- NSC, which is Rs. 

2700/-, you get an income tax rebate of 40%, which is Rs. 

1080/-. What do you say? We will share the gain 50-50. 

Me : But there is too much of hassle in taking a loan. 

Popat : Why? I will give you the form. You fill it. The Principal is 

on the first floor. He can sign today itself. 

Me : But then I have to go to buy NSC. I donôt have time to do it 

due to hectic classes. 

Popat : No problem, my wife is an NSC agent. She can get your 

NSC tomorrow. 
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Me : OK. 

 

He gave me the loan form. I signed it and went to class. He 

completed the other details, got the Principalôs signature and the 

next evening, he gave me the NSC of Rs. 2700/-. Looking at me 

with some expectation, I gave him Rs. 500/- and thanked him. 

 

Popat : Sir, ek he round kheliega? 

Me : What? 

Popat : It is only 29th March. Two days yet to go for year end. 

 

I could not control my laughter and thanked him again. Amused, I 

realised that Popat Bhai was humble, not the fool that we thought 

him to be. 

 

Some questions, however, flashed in my mind. How much more 

tax could be saved if I played this game throughout the year? Will 

it be more than the tax I paid? What if others also played the game? 

How many other games like these were prevalent? What was the 

purpose of the tax regime? 
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12. A Livewire Information System 
 

Dr. Ashwani Kumar was assigned the task of developing a 

computer-based Management Information System (MIS) by the 

Deputy General Manager (DGM) of the commercial department. 

The department followed the manual system thus far. Recently, Dr. 

Kumar had joined back after his study leave. A young colleague 

who met Dr. Kumar winked and told him in his usual jovial 

manner, ñYou canôt design an effective computer-based 

information system here.ò Dr. Kumar could not interpret his joke, 

until he experienced some of it himself.  

 

Recently, the company had acquired another company, which had 

a very formal system of recording all transactions, performance 

data, etc. at every stage and function, thanks to elaborate 

paperwork that was transferred from the British collaborator. The 

parent company had a Russian collaboration and due to language 

difficulties, the paperwork of the formal system was not 

transferred. The information system in parts at least was very 

informal and oral.  

 

One Mr. Yogesh was transferred as senior commercial engineer 

from the Indore plant of the acquired company. He replaced Mr. 

Rastogi, a commercial engineer and trusted assistant of the DGM 

in the motor sales section. One day, the DGM called Mr. Yogesh 

and asked him a couple of questions.  

 

DGM  : Mr. Yogesh, what is the out-turn (production) of 

motors in the last month? 

Mr. Yogesh: Sir, I will check the files and let you know. 

DGM  : What is this? You donôt know? I canôt tolerate it. I 

want a livewire information system. Call Mr. Rastogi.  

 

Mr. Rastogi entered. 

 

DGM  :Mr. Rastogi, what is the out-turn of motors in the 

previous month? 

Mr. Rastogi: (turns pages of his diary) Sir, it was 24 motors 
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DGN  : See Mr. Yogesh. I want efficient livewire executives 

like Mr. Rastogi. 

 

Sitting by Mr. Rastogiôs side, Dr. Kumar noticed that the page Mr. 

Rastogi referred to was a blank one. How could Mr. Rastogi have 

the information, when he was not even dealing with motor sales 

now?  

 

Dr. Kumar continued his efforts to design a computer-based MIS. 

The company supplied various equipment for thermal and hydro 

power plants, motors, control and other equipment to industrial 

customers. Components and assemblies varied in size and value, 

from a few thousand to a few millions of rupees. Their number 

supplied annually ran into thousands. Dr. Kumar designed 

computer programmes that required collection of data from 

production departments, multiplied it with rates for each item to get 

the monetary value of the items produced during the month, 

aggregated them account head-wise, fitted the formula for 

cumulative production and put alongside the budgeted figures, 

calculating variances to arrive at the final production report.  

 

To have the trial run, he asked the Foreman of a workshop to give 

figures of production of various components and assemblies for the 

previous month. The Foreman enquired, ñWhich one, Sir?ò  

 

Dr. Kumar was a bit surprised and asked, ñAre there more figures?ò 

 

The Foreman replied, ñYes, Sir. Do you want the actual figures or 

only what we are declaring? Every month we declare production in 

the month, which is not necessarily the actual one.ò 

 

Dr. Kumar was taken aback and asked for the actual figures. On 

receiving the information, he completed the final report and gave 

the printout to the DGM.  

 

The DGM was quite annoyed after seeing the report and told Dr. 

Kumar, ñWhat? The achievement last month is only 70% of the 
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budget. I canôt take it to the Executive Director. He will kill me. 

Do something to make it at least 90%.ò  

 

Dr. Kumar was perplexed at the DGMôs response. He wondered 

how to do what the DGM had asked for, given that there were 

thousands of components and assemblies. Declaring total 

production at an aggregate level close to the budget might work in 

the manual system, but how to manipulate it in a computerised 

system was beyond his comprehension.  

 

éééééééééééééééééééééééééé 

It is no wonder that when a new General Manager from the 

acquired company took over the reins of the plant said in his first 

address to the executive, ñYou people have declared so much that 

if we have to make up the deficit between the actual and declared 

figures, we have to declare one whole year as a production 

holiday.ò 
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13.  Shabashi 
 

In a leading management institute of India, an exercise of 

perspective planning was being undertaken to prepare a plan for 

the next 10 to 15 years. One day in the tea club, some young 

inquisitive faculty members asked the senior colleagues sitting 

there to share their experiences and views on how to manage the 

task of giving a fillip to the academic activities of the Institute. 

Prof. Chidambaram, one of the senior colleagues, narrated the 

following story.  

 

ñSome 20 years ago, I joined this Institute to see how a national 

level institution is built. I studied at a leading management institute 

of India, which was already established as were other others. Since 

I was unsure of my interest in academics as a career and the future 

of the institute, I came here on deputation. On coming here, I 

observed that the Institute had every function that we have in the 

industry: marketing (placement), finance (getting and utili sing 

funds), human resource management (faculty and staff), operations 

(running PGP and other programmes), project management and so 

on. You could engage in any one or more without being as much 

under pressure as in the industry. After two years, I gave consent 

for a permanent position.  

 

ñI was teaching three different subjects in three terms to the first 

batch of PGP: Business Policy (now called Strategic Management), 

Management Control System (which was typically taught by 

Finance area elsewhere) and Management of Change and 

Creativity (normally taught by Behavioural Science area). I was 

given placement responsibility also. Our Director used to meet us 

from time to time. One day, he asked me if I was facing any 

difficulties. I expressed my problem, ñUnless I have a conviction 

that what I teach can be done, I find it difficult to teach,ò Dr. 

Chidambaram said.  

 

 The Director smiled and nodded. 
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The Faculty Council resolved to ask him to develop case material 

for his first course. Since there were not many companies in 

Lucknow, he developed a three-part case study on Scooters India 

Ltd. and was stunned to find all that he was taught in his doctoral 

course in management did not explain the case situation. ñHow can 

a company be mismanaged in all functional areas and still last for 

close to 16 years making losses (not able to cover expenses)?ò He 

was intrigued.  

 

The Institute was banking on the central government even for a 

salary. ñBy the second year, I was fearful whether we were also 

going the same way,ò he said.  

 

ñI did not know how to get over the problem but was convinced 

that there must be some way out. Is there no solution that the 

subjects I teach can offer?ò he wondered. ñBy chance, I had 

developed a report called óShaping the Futureô as a member of the 

óCommittee on Future Directionsô, which was formed on an 

impromptu suggestion by a faculty member while waiting for tea 

in a Faculty Council meeting. It was an 84-page report, 12 pages 

devoted to what ówe would like to beô and 72 pages on óhow to be 

thatô. Being ótoo bulkyô the members did not find it worth reading 

as some expert members felt that óperspective plans should not be 

more than one to two pages longô. Although I had drafted the report 

as a serious student of Business Policy, I was unsure whether things 

would really work out the way proposed,ò he added.  

 

ñBy the end of the second year, I happened to take up writing a case 

on Apollo Hospital Enterprise Limited. On returning from data 

collection, I was increasingly getting convinced that we must grow 

to reduce dependence and drain on the exchequer. If Apollo could 

do it all by itself, why canôt we? After all conceptually challenges 

are the same. When I found that on 30 July, 1988 our salary was 

not credited in the account because of a delay in getting a cheque 

from the Ministry, I felt that perhaps time was running out,ò said 

Dr. Chidambaram. The Institute was in its infancy, say about four 

years old. There were very few faculty members and little 

borrowed or rented infrastructure. The government funds were too 
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sluggish for creating infrastructure. Because of the imbalanced 

faculty lot, some were heavily loaded and some others very little, 

there was time for the latter to engage in bickering also.  

 

ñA new Director joined in August 1989. I admire her tolerance for 

my harsh words like: óWhy couldnôt this Institute increase intake 

in its PGP from 30 to 100?ô Honestly, I would have got irritated if 

a faculty member had tormented me by repeatedly asking questions 

like that but she tolerated it. However, one day towards the end of 

January 1991, her patience gave way and she said in a Faculty 

Council meeting that she was going to appoint me as the next PGP 

Chairman as that was the only way she thought it possible to shut 

me up,ò said an amused Dr. Chidambaram. Within the next few 

days, the office order for appointment of a new PGP Chairman was 

issued, which normally used to be done in mid-April. On July 1, 

1991, there were 105 students in the fifth batch of PGP, instead of 

the usual 30.  

 

A lot of things were to be done: rearranging the classrooms (small 

special chairs were designed to accommodate the increased batch 

size), hostels, dining facilities, computer centre, arranging faculty, 

and so on in four monthsô time. But at the end, everything settled 

down. Seeing construction of a 120 seater classroom in 25 days 

was a lifetime experience. Both the summer and the job placements 

also went well despite the increased batch size.  

 

There were a lot of other things that happened. The PGP fees was 

rationalised, increasing from Rs. 5000/- to Rs. 10,650/-, to cover 

the costs and ensure that when the batch size went to 180, the 

Institute would not need any recurring grant from the Ministry, 

which was followed by other institutions. Costs were reduced. 

Prescribed reading books were not reduced but given on a 

returnable basis so that the cost was covered in two years. The PGP 

hostel cost was reduced from Rs. 800 per month to Rs. 300 per 

month and charged as per the actuals, instead of Rs. 150 per month 

earlier on. A convocation fee was introduced to cover convocation 

expenses instead of financing through Ministry grants. The 

placement fee was introduced in consultation with companies (to 
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generated resources for capacity expansion), which other 

institutions also introduced later.  

 

Apart from parents and companies, other stakeholdersô 

contribution was also increased. Faculty Council suo motu 

resolved that every faculty member would teach at least two to 

three courses every year, which became a practice in other IIMs. 

No increase in staff was made despite a threefold increase in PGP 

intake to contain staff cost. From five-day classes, six-day classes 

were introduced in PGP to rationalise scheduling and give PGP 

students adequate free time. New faculty members joined, some of 

whom became shining stars later.  

 

While the batch size was increased, the library and identity cards 

were issued on the spot at the time of registration, something which 

used to take weeks. The registration form was reduced from 16 

pages to four pages to expedite the registration process. PGP 

manuals were introduced from the next batch. Formatted 

acceptance forms were introduced and acceptances for being kept 

on the waiting list were also introduced. The acceptance fee was 

enhanced from Rs. 100/- to Rs. 500/- to overcome the problem of 

dropout-related underutilisation of capacity. Customised 

admission offers were sent for the first time instead of cyclostyled 

letters with pasted names.  

 

Many unexpected things also happened. For course material, 

Xeroxing was introduced to take care of the load and reduce cost. 

Computers were introduced in the PGP office and later in other 

offices. Instead of having additional data entry operators, 

secretarial staff was offered an incentive to switch over to 

computer-based working instead of typing. Faculty members also 

got personal computers the following year. When the batch passed 

out, most staff members got a promotion or special increments. 

With an improved load, bickering among the faculty also reduced.  

 

Pleased with the increased batch size, the Ministry released 

substantial funds to complete the campus construction and the 

Institute could move to the newly built campus for a batch size of 
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120 students, from the seventh batch. All this was very gratifying, 

though working for 18-20 hrs a day seriously disturbed the 

metabolic system and caused a literal collapse at the end of the first 

year.  

 

One day, the Director who was a little upset, phoned Dr. 

Chidambaram and said, ñYou have been creating problems for me. 

Did I not tell you to increase intake? Now you answer the AG office 

auditors (doing a five-year comprehensive audit) who are saying 

that our placement is OK. We have increased intake from 30 to 

over 100 in the fifth year successfully and we are being asked why 

we did not do it earlier?ò  

 

Dr. Chidambaram was also upset at how his painstaking efforts 

were not being appreciated, but on second thought, he also 

wondered why other leading institutions had not added even a 

single seat in the last 15 years, why the Institute also did not do it 

earlier and when the institute could make the next leap. 
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14. Getting Multiple Returns: Writing A 

Management Case 
 

A professor in a management school told the following story to his 

younger colleagues: 

 

I was looking for an opportunity to develop case material on 

Mergers and Acquisitions for my course on Strategic Management. 

The Indian companies who had experience of this kind were not 

responding to my request for the purpose. 

 

In 1991, I was sent to ESADE, Barcelona, under the Euro-India 

Exchange Programme. As part of the visit, I was able to develop a 

case study on the merger of four ósickô hospitals which emerged as 

an Olympic referral hospital in about five yearsô time. The study 

gave an interesting insight into managing mergers successfully, 

especially on Post-Merger Integration issues. This was my first 

International Case Study. 

 

To give the finishing touches to the case material, I thought of 

writing its teaching note. I searched ESADEôs library to identify 

suggested readings relevant for the purpose but realised that the 

case illustrated the managerial tasks and challenges associated with 

post-merger integration, which were not covered in such depth in 

the literature thus far. The case study thus bridged this research gap 

and the teaching note emerged as a research paper. The same was 

presented and published in the VI Annual Conference of Indian 

Management Schools at MDI, Gurgaon. 

 

The case study was accepted for the WACRA (World Association 

for Case Research and Application) International Conference at 

Bratislava, giving me the opportunity to attend my first 

international conference. 

 

Incidentally, this also gave me an opportunity to have my fi rst 

experience of an East European Country (Slovakia) and also 

another small European country, Austria (which I had not seen) as  
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the route to Bratislava was through Viennaò. 

 

The scanning of ESADEôs library to identify suggested readings 

for the case helped in identifying and appreciating literature 

covering various aspects of Mergers and Acquisitions. This led to 

the design of a course on the subject for MBA students, finalizing 

the course outline in consultation with the faculty of ESADE and 

collecting relevant course material for the same that did not exist 

in our library. It was thus possible to launch the course for r PGP 

students for the first time in the country in 1993-94. These 

experiences also helped in the design and launch of the first 

Management Development Programme on Mergers and 

Acquisition at the Institute, well before the topic gathered 

momentum and well before the Mergers and Acquisitions became 

a wave five years later. 

 

While attending the WACRA Conference, the possibility of 

holding a WACRA Conference in India was explored. They 

seemed to be inclined and asked to send a proposal. When I 

returned, I wondered who would contribute the case study from 

IIML if the conference materialised. Not many faculty members 

were writing cases.  

 

I was teaching in all the three terms that year (1993-94). I explored 

the possibility with the PGP students. 40 of them volunteered and 

at the end of it, eight case studies came out. The conference did not 

materialise, but the first IIML Series (with studentôs cases, my 

cases and other faculty memberôs cases) came out. It was released 

by the Honôble Minister of HRD on the convocation day.  

 

As part of the preparation for the Conference, I had conducted a 

survey of usage and case writing by faculty members of 

management schools in India. Another paper on the experience of 

studentôs case writing was also developed. Both these papers were 

accepted for presentation at the following annual conference of 

WACRA. 

 

For having the trial run of the cases prepared, MDP on Strategic  
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Management (SM) was conducted with the title óShaping the 

Futureô. This was the first MDP on SM at the institute. The institute 

then continued to conduct MDP on SM for several years despite 

meagre resources and infrastructure.  

 

The set of cases was shown to my colleagues and they suggested 

that it should be published as a book. Thus, the first case book on 

SM was published in 1996.  

 

Since copies of cases by students were available and I had promised 

them to try for publication of their cases, I got copies of my cases 

(written from 1981 onwards) along with five studentsô  cases, 

arranged them in order of the topics covered  under the Strategic 

Management Process and made a master copy of the cases. The 

Secretary of AIMS was so impressed with it that he decided to 

approve partial funding of a Management Teaching Programme 

(MTP). Thus, the first MTP was conducted at IIML in January 

1996 with a record number of 37 participants, accommodating 

infrastructure for about 20 MDP participants.  

 

At the end of the Programme, the participants, most of whom were 

very senior faculty members (30 out of 37 being Readers and 

above), were very much impressed by the collegiate system of 

learning. They made a humble request that something should be 

done to raise a low-cost platform that provided them the 

opportunity to meet and update themselves, year after year. This 

led to a professional body called Strategic Management Forum, the 

first of its kind in the country. The first conference of the Forum 

was held in 1997, which was organised at IIML.  

 

In 2001, the Forum organised the first joint seminar of IIMA, 

IIMB, IIMC and IIML on WTO, the first ever joint academic 

activity at IIML. This was followed by the Joint Seminar on WTO 

by IIML and IIFT as well as the University of Goa and TERI Goa 

at Goa under the aegis of SMF. By 2002, the spirit of cooperation 

had started to spread beyond IIMs to others: non-IIM, non-

government institutions with Annual Conferences at MDI 

Gurgaon, IIFM Bhopal and XLRI Jamshedpur. So far, the forum 
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has organised 19 conferences/seminars in which over 700 papers 

have been presented. 

 

From 2007, the forum spread its conferences to the IITs, with IIT 

Bombay and IIT Kanpur organising conferences in 2007 and 2008, 

respectively. Since then, the annual conference started bringing out 

selected papers as books. The spirit of cooperation between IIML 

and IIFT as well as with other institutions sanctioned the biggest 

research grant of the year to IIML, allowing research to be 

conducted jointly. IIML in collaboration with IIM Kozhikode 

conducted five joint conferences from which three books have 

come out. 

 

In 2003, SMF decided to launch a MTP in a concerted manner 

through a consortium of six IIMs, XLRI, MDI and IIFT. In all, 67 

week-long MTPs have been conducted in which over 1789 faculty 

members have participated. 

 

In 2010, the First International Conference of SMF was organised 

at IIM Ahmadabad. 

 

At the end of it, he asked the awestruck younger colleagues, ñHow 

many outcomes were there from the Mergers and Acquisitions 

Case Study developed in 1991-92? How many outcomes were 

repeat ones? What lessons can be drawn, if any, from the story? Is 

it a success story or a story of failure? Does the story capture the 

entire development? Are there other stories hidden in the case? 

How many? 

 

The younger colleagues started scratching their heads. Are you also 

doing this?   
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15. The Power of Making a Checklist 
 

In a leading management institute of India, a perspective planning 

exercise was being undertaken to prepare a plan for the next 10 to 

15 years. One day in the tea club, some young inquisitive faculty 

members asked the senior colleagues sitting there to share their 

experiences/views on how to manage the task of giving a fillip to 

the academic activities of the Institute. Prof. Chidambaram, one of 

the senior colleagues, narrated a story about how the Institute had 

gone about giving a 3.5 fold rise in intake of Post Graduates in the 

Programme in Management in four months a few years back (story 

Shabashi in this book). Prof. Nandkumar, another senior colleague, 

narrated the following experience on the request of his younger 

colleagues, ñPreparing a checklist is considered an important 

management tool for planning and implementing the growth 

agenda. But the power of this tool is not specifically described in 

the literature.ò 

 

Sometime in February of 1996, I was attending a board meeting of 

the Institute. At one stage, perhaps while discussing the growth of 

the Institute, the Chairman looked at a faculty member on the 

Board and asked why the Institute couldnôt increase the PGP batch 

size (of around 125 students) to 180. The faculty member politely 

told him that the question should be asked to the Director, not to 

him.  

 

The Chairman said, ñThe Director explains that the Faculty 

Council feels that it is not possible to increase the intake in view of 

various constraints like classroom, faculty, etc. Why canôt you 

allow at least 15-20 students to the present size?ò 

 

The faculty member said, ñThe Director may be right in that the 

Faculty Council has decided that the Institute should wait for one 

more year so that all the necessary infrastructure is in place in 

advance. But you may please check with the Director on whether I 

have not said so. With regard to adding 15-20 students, as a faculty, 

my view is that it should not be done. We donôt have appropriate 

classrooms even for 60 students. With nine students in one row in 

http://www.smgi.in/
http://www.smgi.in/
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the lecture hall, my voice does not reach even the seventh row. 

When I move with a mike for eliciting participation for the case 

discussion, the cord of the microphone breaks as I move forward 

and backward to the seventh row. If the students are not able to 

listen to me and each other, how will they follow what is being 

taught through the case method? Without that, we will have a farce 

of teaching and not impart learning to the students. But you may 

check with the Director. I have never said no to adding one full 

section, even if it increased my workload substantially.ò 

 

ñBut the Director says it is not possible. The Faculty Council has 

suggested a faculty strength of about 30 faculty members in order 

to handle the increased intake of 180 students,ò said the Chairman. 

 

The faculty member quipped, ñWe have developed the expertise of 

explaining how things canôt be done. If you ask this question next 

February, the answer will be the same. We will tell you very 

convincingly why the same canôt be done.ò 

 

ñSo what should be done?ò asked the Chairman. 

 

The faculty member replied, ñThe Institute should be asked to 

prepare a checklist of all that is to be done to increase the batch size 

to 180 next year. And in every board meeting, the first and main 

agenda should be to discuss what remains to be done. The Institute 

must confirm to the Board by the following December that 

everything required has been done to increase the batch size to 180. 

If this is done, there is a possibility that next year we will have a 

batch size of 180.ò  

 

The Board asked the Director to do the same, and surprise of 

surprises, the following year the intake was 180.  

 

I never realised that the power of preparing and using the 

checklist as a management tool is of that order, did you?ò he 

asked.  

 

The young faculty colleagues were wondering whether just by  
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making the checklist the increase in intake could take place? Why 

not prepare the checklist for increasing the intake from 120 to 180 

using strategic management models? In what way would this 

checklist differ from the one mentioned in the case óShabashiô? 

Keeping in view the facts of the case when could the intake have 

been increased to 180 or more?    

 
Exhibit 1 

  

PGP 

Int 

ake 

Cam 

pus* Faculty 

Non- 

Teac 

hing  

PGP  

Fee /  

Total  

MHRD Grant* 

  

  

 

Develo 

pment 
 

Staff Student 

Non- 

Plan Plan Total 

1985-86 27 NA NA NA 2625 NA NA NA 

1986-88 30 NA NA NA 2425 NA NA NA 

1987-88 32 NA NA NA 3075 NA NA NA 

1988-89 34 165 22 84 5375 NA NA 289 

1989-90 105 290 25 88 6075 NA NA 503 

1990-91 96 517 28 79 6375 NA NA 725 

1991-

92**  

90 309 25 78 10650 NA NA 537 

1992-93 104 330 23(12) 105 12450 120 409 529 

1993-94 118 121 22(18) 112 12450 120 130 250 

1994-95 122 67 22(18) 106 19000 132 275 407 

1995-96 108 293 23(15) 129 35800 145 500 645 

1996-97 118 197 26(3) 132 50050 118 0 118 

1997-98 172 NA 34(2) 135 59900 84 51 135 

1998-99 158 NA 35(2) 146 70000 343 72 415 

1999-00 183 NA 44(2) 140 85000 579 113 692 

2000-01 183 NA 57(3) 141 95000 700 200 900 

2001-

02@ 

240 NA 64(3) 138 110000 750 400 1150 

         
*  PGP Intake increased to 2 sections     **  Institute shifted to own campus*** 

PGP Intake increased to 3 sections     @  PGP Intake increased to 4 sections      
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16.  The Power of Interior Design 
 

ñHey, donôt get angry with me.  It is my Faculty Council and staff, 

architect and interior designer, who are responsible for it.  At the 

most you can charge me for aligning with them to increase the 

intake,ò said Dr. Tushar Patel, Director of IMP to his counterparts 

in five other institutions, one of whom was a little upset over the 

increase of 80% of the required increase in the intake of PGP (Post 

Graduate Programme) of IMP, under the OBC (Other Backward 

Castes) quota.   

 

IMP was one of the six institutes that was given three years to 

increase the total intake of the seats by 54%, as in July 2007.  IMP 

had increased 80% of the required 97 seats in the first year itself 

(instead of 15 seats, i.e., 12% envisaged earlier), while others had 

increased intake by 12-15% only and were to add the balance over 

the next two years  

 

Dr. Patel said, ñIn March the Faculty Council had met to discuss 

the issue of increase in the intake.  I was reluctant to even attend 

such a meeting, but on the request of some senior members, I 

agreed to do so.  However, I had made two things clear to them.  

One, the Board of Governorsô decision of payment for teaching up 

to two additional PGP courses above the minimum of 3 courses, at 

a rate at par with the adjunct faculty, will be implemented only if 

the PGP intake was increased.  The issue of additional payment 

was initiated by me for the Boardôs approval because there was an 

acute shortage of faculty to meet the requirement of increased 

teaching load when the OBC quota related increase in PGP intake 

takes place. Secondly, I needed at least three to four months to 

make the infrastructure arrangements required for increased intake.  

ñAt the end of the meeting,ò he added, ñthe Faculty Council 

resolved to increase one more section of 60 students.  We got the 

same approved at the next Board meeting.ò 

 

Later on, however, some interesting developments took place.  

One, the Supreme Court of India cleared the OBC quota issue on 

9th April. But the Calcutta High Court granted a stay on its 
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implementation.  The Directors talked to each other and it was 

decided that since the admissions were getting delayed for other 

candidates, the institutes may send the offer in the same way as was 

done the previous year (i.e. pre-OBC quota year). ñOur admission 

Chairman accordingly sent an offer to 700 general category 

candidates and likewise for SC/ST students.  But, instead of 140 

acceptances in the previous year, 190 acceptances were received 

from general category students, thanks to the excellent job 

placements of the graduating batch of 2008,ò said Dr. Patel.  There 

were three doctoral students and two PGP I repeat candidates.  In 

all, thus, 235 seats were booked, including those of SC/ST 

category.  None of the acceptances could be rejected.  Towards the 

end of May 2008, the Calcutta High Court also cleared the stay.  

We were now caught in a strange situation.  Even after increasing 

60 seats, only five were left for OBC candidates. ñNo one would 

take this lightly,ò we felt.  ñOne full section increased in the name 

of OBC quota, and only five OBC candidates admitted?ò he said. 

 

An urgent Faculty Council meeting was therefore called to address 

the issue. Members deliberated on the intake, section size, etc., 

counting every seat in the classrooms and it was decided to allow 

28 more seats for OBC candidates, taking the total to 33 seats for 

OBC candidates. An urgent Board meeting was also called and 

approval for 268 seats was taken.  Thus, in all, it was decided to 

increase the number of seats by 88. 

 

Due to unknown reasons, after the above approval by the Board 

was taken, the other institutions issued admission offers from the 

waiting list and almost 48 general candidates withdrew admission 

to go there. The IMP had to exhaust the entire OBC quota list.  

Indeed, it admitted 70 OBC candidates, and thus almost the entire 

27% OBC reservation was done in the first year itself.  Due to the 

increase of 85% of total seats, the IMP was expected to get more 

grants from the Ministry, almost 85%,  while other institutes got 

grants proportionate to the percentage of seats they increased, i.e., 

about 6-10%.   
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ñYou must have used some magic stick to do that,ò quipped one. 

ñHow could you accommodate 85% of the required increase in 

intake, when you claim that your institute has the maximum 

constraints and requires more time, effort and money to expand?ò 

 

ñNo magic, but a managerial stick. Little foresight, little 

innovation, little concern for society and little luck, did all this,ò 

Dr. Patel smiled and said to himself. 

 

Answering to a query by the case writer, Dr. Patel said, ñWhen I 

came here the Institute had gone for increasing intake from 60 

students (1 section) in 2002 to 120 students (2 sections) in the year 

2003 on demand from the Ministry. But unfortunately, the Phase II 

construction work required for the second section was considerably 

delayed. The second Classroom Complex (CRC II) required for 

120 students was only halfway through. There was a married 

studentsô hostel, but since there were no married students, some 

rooms were occasionally used by visiting faculty. Most visiting 

faculty, however, used to stay in hotels. A guest house and another 

married studentsô hostel were coming up. The Institute was wholly 

dependent on the government, and there were no funds coming as 

there was a standoff between the Ministry and the institutions. I 

requested the architects to convert the 36 seater classrooms into 60 

seater and 60 seater classrooms into 80-90 seater in CRC II. They 

reworked the idea and came up with a plan of 60 and 80 seater 

rooms. This helped us move fast and increase PGP intake to 180 in 

2005, when the first batch 120 was passing out.ò 

 

The money earmarked in March 2004 to make a stopgap classroom 

arrangement to accommodate 120 students was saved by 

expediting the completion of CRC II, which was expected to be 

ready by January 2005, in July 2004 itself. With CRC I having two 

60 seater classrooms and two 36 seater rooms already there, the 

total number of 60+ seater classrooms went up to 6 instead of 4 

planned initially for the 120 student batch size. Two of the 

classrooms could indeed accommodate 80 students. This came in 

handy while accommodating 280 students (2 x 80+2 x 60) in the 

first year, with two 60 seater and two 36 seater classrooms 
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available for second-year students. In the afternoon, almost all the 

classrooms were available for second-year students. There was a 

large number of expert faculty members coming from outside. The 

flights reached the present location only in the afternoon. This 

availability of classrooms for second elective courses, thus, gelled 

well with the convenience of experts outside faculty. It helped in 

overcoming an embarrassing situation that could arise if the seats 

fell short for OBC quota students as mentioned earlier. 

 

The money earmarked in 2004 for making temporary, makeshift 

arrangements for 120 students in the second year was used to 

furnish the two married studentsô hostels and the guest house. Two 

interior designers were appointed, one for the guest house and the 

other for converting two married studentsô hostels into two 

additional guest houses. They converted them into two impressive 

double occupancy guest houses, giving 48 beds in all the three 

guest houses put together. The design was so attractive that not 

only did the participants of the low-cost faculty development 

programmes like it, but even visitors coming for job placements 

preferred to stay in these guest houses rather than in hotels in the 

city.  

 

ñWhen we increased the intake to 180, we needed two more 

hostels. We thought of making one hostel with 60 single occupancy 

rooms and another one having 42 double occupancy rooms, a little 

larger in sizeð to accommodate two personsð with an attached 

toilet. It was an experiment. We had observed that all the PGP 

studentsô hostels were used only for nine months and were vacant 

for 3 months. We thought of furnishing the 42 room hostel like the 

guest houses so that they can also be used for conducting faculty 

development programmes in summer, at low cost. The furnishing 

was so attractive that the Board agreed to have the next two 

studentsô hostels (with 64 and 48 rooms, respectively) also 

designed the same way. The PGP students liked it so much that 

they requested the Institute to allow them to use the double 

occupancy hostel instead of the single occupancy ones. Just 

through interior design, by 2009, we got additional accommodation 

for 212 (2 x 106) participants of FDP/MDP in summer of 2009, at 
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no extra cost for civil work (only furnishing cost was extra), and 

also offered executive accommodation to PGP students, on their 

request. By doubling the occupancy, 106 extra beds became 

available for PGP students. Therefore, 85 students could be 

accommodated to increase the PGP intake, well before the regular 

infrastructure for increasing the PGP intake could be created under 

OBC quota.ò 

 

ñI had never realised the power of interior design, nor the fact that 

the constraints and environmental threats could be opportunities. It 

helped us grow fast. Furthermore, when we converted the married 

studentsô hostel into an attractive guest house, we started saving 

about Rs. 30 lakhs each year, the amount that was spent on hotels 

and transport for visiting faculty. A yearôs saving is almost equal 

to the cost of furnishing them. This also helped in conducting 

MDP/FDPs without having the regular infrastructure for the same. 

In three years, we achieved a leadership position in FDPs. But 

making the studentsô hostels attractive executive hostels gave extra 

economies. The addition of 85 students with Rs. 3 lakh fees fetched 

Rs. 250 lakh (which would go to Rs. 500 lakh next year) while the 

incremental cost was only about Rs. 100 lakhs. It also led to 

additional accommodation for conducting as many 

MDP/FDP/conferences in summer as possible by faculty. And 

above all we were able to surpass the increase in PGP seats required 

as per OBC quota, by 10%, in the second year itself, something 

which could have taken seven to eight years in our location,ò said 

Dr. Patel. 

 

The case writer was a little intrigued. ñHow much was the growth 

rate of the IMP? How did the increase in intake take place? Is 

growth just a matter of choice? Was there any conscious strategy? 

What were the benefits accruing to the Institute due to this 

increase? How much benefit is due to innovative thinking/ interior 

design? Can one measure the monetary value of the same? What 

was the so-called managerial stick used by Dr. Patel?ò he 

wondered. 
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17.  The Experiment 
 

The Institute of Management (IMP) was set up by the Government 

of India as the sixth national level Institute of management.  The 

Institute was created as an autonomous body, fully funded by the 

Central Government, with the support of the state government. 

Consequent to increasing the number of seats in two classrooms 

from 60 to 79 and in another one from 36 to 59, the Institute 

decided to construct a hostel for a training programme.  However, 

instead of constructing single occupancy rooms, it was decided to 

have double occupancy rooms, a move that perplexed everyone.  

Explaining the reasons, the Director said: 

 

ñIt was all very confusing. The Institute was located in the 

southwest corner of the country, away from the mainland, and the 

cost to the sponsoring company was double the registration fee, 

because of high travel expenses.  Besides, due to poor air 

connectivity, one had to spend an extra full day each way to attend 

a short-duration programme.  Train journeys entailed several times 

more the time (average twenty-four hours).  I was, therefore, not 

very sure whether it would be possible to have high capacity 

utilization to cover even out-of-pocket expenses and reach the 

break-even point.   

 

Luckily, our faculty development programmes had clicked, due to 

a judicious pricing strategy.  But the fee was to be kept very low, 

almost one-fourth of MDP conducted by other Institutes.  Still 

filling the capacity was difficult.  Then, an idea crossed our minds: 

having double occupancy rooms which would be used for 9 months 

by PGP students, and in summers, the same could be used for 

faculty development programmes and other programmes/ 

activities.ò 

 

The cost for such a hostel was 33% more than single occupancy 

rooms for PGP students.  But the hostel could then be used for 3 

more months.  The rate fetched by the FDP was 18 times more.  

(Rs. 300 net per day per participant, on double occupancy basis 

compared to Rs. 1000 p.m for PGP).  With occupancy of 20% on 
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80 days (in 42 rooms) in a year, it would mean an income of Rs. 

20.16 lakhs (80 days x 600 p.d x 42). 

 

It could thus add up to Rs. 21.16 lakhs in three months compared 

to Rs. 1.36 lakhs realised at the PGP rates. Thus, while the cost of 

civil work of hostel construction went up from Rs. 120 lakhs to Rs. 

160 lakh (33% increase), the additional recovery would be a matter 

of two years Further, for part of the period it was used for MDPs, 

the rate could be three to four times more than FDP.  The additional 

cost was estimated at Rs. 100 lakhs (in civil works as well as 

executive type furnishing), which would take a maximum of five 

years to recover through FDP and two to three years if used for 

MDP. 

 

In a nutshell, the Institute was getting one hostel extra for 3 months 

of summer (with the cost covered in four to five years), whether 

one called the building a PGP hostel or an FDP/MDP hostel. 

 

Explaining the reasons for furnishing the hostel in executive style, 

the Director said: 

 

ñThere have been several considerations. Firstly and most 

importantly, I have always believed in multi-utility buildings.  That 

helps in the optimal utilization of assets, reducing costs and making 

them useful for a variety of activities, which are important but not 

of long duration and not amenable to a charge on an actual cost 

basis.  I could recover the cost with MDPs fastest, FDP over a 

longer period and PGP hostels over a very long period.  Secondly, 

we had started succeeding in organizing major conferences at an 

increasing scale, but were severely constrained by infrastructure 

and could not scale up. We couldnôt afford to create 500 capacity 

boarding/lodging arrangements for big conferences that would be 

extremely important, and couldnôt give enough occupancy during 

the whole year to make it viable.  But, if decently furnished PGP 

hostels are designed to meet the requirements of delegates of 

conferences, the same facility can be used for 10-20 days in a year 

and very high capacity gets created for large conferences at a small 
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extra cost, thus covering full expenses of large conferences despite 

low registration fees. 

 

Thirdly, we did not want that faculty development programme 

participants got inferior treatment in terms of hospitality as 

compared to MDP participants, though they canôt pay even half of 

what junior level industry participants can pay.  If we do not respect 

faculty ourselves, how do we expect others to do it? 

 

Finally, if while doing so, the PGP students too get better facilities 

at no extra cost, what is the harm? They may not use the air 

conditioning, refrigerator, etc. and they donôt pay for it.  But if they 

live in well-designed rooms by choice, I see no reason why we 

should not let them relish facilities at no extra cost.ò 

 

In a sense, by creating radically different multi-utility hostels, the 

Institute had separated costs into two parts: 

 

1.  Basic cost of hostel + cost of             Borne by PGP students (for   

basic furniture given to                9 Months (instead of 12)     

     PGP students                         

 

2.  Additional cost of building   Borne by MDP/FDP/ 

     (attached toilets, changing    conference participants 

     room +  additional  cost          (for use over a period of  

     of superior furnishing)       3 months) 

 

Thus, while the cost to both PGP students and MDP/FDP 

participants and conference delegates is low, the former could 

enjoy better facilities and amenities. The fee for the MDP/FDP/ 

conference could be substantially reduced (without a reduction in 

quality) to make it within reach of the participants.  Furthermore, 

these multi-utility buildings will give capacities that are not 

possible otherwise. Thus, when a regular 200 bed MDP comes up, 

the Institute can host fully residential conferences of over 500 

delegates at a rate as low as Rs. 3000/- for 3-day conferences, 

covering full expenses without seeking any sponsorships.  The 
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Institute could then think of five parallel conferences of 100 

delegates each during three months of summer. 

 

The move came as a good tool for keeping pace with the growth of 

other institutions, despite facing serious constraints of land and 

hilly terrain that doubled the construction time. Indeed, the Institute 

could grow faster than others and create large capacities that others 

could not think of for a variety of low cost but important activities 

like faculty development programmes, conferences and seminars, 

postdoctoral research, etc. 

 

Elaborating the point the Director said, ñWe were planning to take 

the next increase in PGP intake to 240. We needed two more 

hostels of 60 students each.  We did not have land.  The architects 

could manage only one 60 seater and a 64 seater hostel.  On request, 

they made it double occupancy (to increase MDP/MTP/Conference 

accommodation). By 2007, the pressure for increasing intake by 

54% under OBC quota was increasing, which required even more 

hostel facilities. On being pressed further, the architects squeezed 

yet another 47 seater hostel (which was also made double 

occupancy later). We, thus, got three hostels, two of them being 

double occupancy hostels, furnished in executive style, with 171 

rooms, which were necessary for increasing the intake of more than 

one section of 60 students (76 students).  However, in the process, 

we also got 300+ bed capacity executive accommodation created 

at almost no extra cost for organizing conferences and training 

programmes, which could fetch Rs. 2.7 crore (300 x 90 x1000) 

revenue at a meagre fee of Rs. 1000 per day for participants.  If one 

considered 24 rooms (48 beds) capacity created already in guest 

houses, the total accommodation for low-cost activities could go 

up to 350+ beds.ò 

 

With the proposed 200-bed fully air-conditioned MDP complex 

coming up, the capacity available for organizing large conferences 

and training programmes during three summer months would go 

up to over 550 beds.  This would overcome a serious handicap of 

the Institute, as the city did not have good hotels with more than 

180 capacity, that too not in one hotel, available for such 
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conferences.  In any case, the charge would not be less than Rs. 

1000/- per bed along with the problem of managing logistics. 

 

ñSide by side, we were planning to increase the library/reading 

room capacity by completing the finishing work of the top floor of 

the computer centre, which would have about 30,000 sq ft 

additional area for starting six specialized research centres under 

the Postdoctoral Research Centre. 

 

ñWith prudent policies, we have been able to create a decent corpus 

fund the interest of which could support research expenses of about 

Rs. 5 crore per year. The amount was good enough to support 

travel, boarding, etc. of about 500 people for three months and also 

award 200-300 fellowships of Rs. 100,000 each every year. If 500 

postdoctoral scholars could be mobilised to do serious research 

work, year after year, we hope that some really useful output would 

start emerging for teaching training and consulting to help 

management education make an impact on the outward 

globalization of India, (which the government wished for when the 

economy was opened in 1991),ò concluded the director. 

 

This foresightedness also helped the institute cope with an 

enormous challenge.  The Central Government was pressing the 

Institute for increasing intake by 54% (97 seats). In four yearsô 

time, while other institutions were struggling with timely 

construction, despite being best placed, this Institute had the 

problem of land also, which was a contentious issue between the 

central and state governments, run by different parties, and both 

were unwilling to provide the same.  The resolution of the land 

issue was not in sight despite two years having passed.  However, 

because of double occupancy accommodation, the Institute was in 

a position to accommodate 60 more students in hostels meant for 

60 only.  Indeed if the students agreed, it could increase its full 

quota of 54% (97 students) in the first year itself. 

 

ñIt was not easy. This was no model that was available to us in 

India. I had thought that the students would not agree. But we made 

double occupancy accommodation very attractive. It was not 
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ordinary double occupancy accommodation. We made it an 

executive hostel with amenities that made it look like a three-star 

hotel in a resort, available at the cost of a regular PGP 

accommodation in similar institutions.  Still, we did not want to 

compel. Discussions with students about the accommodation 

Indian industrialists got in institutions abroad, their experience of 

living with a partner in different countries, the different food habits, 

tolerance of others, growth, and how they became among the top 

ten richest in the world made students think. The students 

volunteered to give it a try for those who wanted to.ò 

 

Before demitting office at the expiry of his five-year term, the 

Director invited the entire Faculty Council to attend his last Board 

meeting in which a faculty member made a presentation on PDRC. 

After a few clarifications and suggestions, the Board approved the 

same in principle.  

 

When the experiment was cited in a Research Conference, the 

delegates were neither convinced with the economics of the 

decision nor with the idea that by making such changes, the 

Institute would emerge as a research hub. A lot more is required, 

some felt. 

  

ñWhat if the experiment fails?ò some others said.  

 

ñThe Institute stands at strategic crossroads,ò another quipped. 
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éééééééééééééééééééééééééé..   

P.S.  

 

The Institute was able to increase PGP intake from 180 to 268 in 

2008 (to meet 85% of OBC quota in the first year itself) to 300 in 

2009 and 390 by 2016, despite the construction of the next phase 

being delayed because of land constraints. It also allowed the 

Institute to expand MDP/FDP activities. The revenue went up from 

Rs. 21 crs in year ending March 2008 to over Rs. 65 crs on 

31.3.2016. The corpus fund too went up from Rs. 84 crs to over Rs. 

180 crs during the period. The entire infrastructure was used to 

conduct sponsored training programmes for by and large junior and 

middle-level managers, which helped in a rapid increase in 

revenues and the corpus fund. The PDRC remained a dream. Most 

faculty and Board members were happy and highly appreciative of 

the development. No one remembered the Board decision of the 

PDRC. 
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18.  The Time Estimates 
 

It is a story of 1988. The personal computers were only five years 

old in the country. Prof. Jamboonath, a professor in strategy, was 

wondering why the three PCXTs, were not getting commissioned 

for use. He had been able to convince the Director to buy the three 

PCXTs for use by the faculty, including himself. He had created a 

PCXT-based computer training centre in a bank two years ago, 

which was the first computer training centre in the banking industry 

in the country. He could not work on the computer as using a 

computer meant he needed to walk a kilometre and climb three 

floors in a rented building in which the computer centre was 

located. Thus, for a 30-minute job that he could do during the break 

period between classes, he needed to waste two hours and this tired 

him as he was over 50 years old. Besides, the head of the computer 

centre was reluctant to allow any subordinate staff (typists, 

stenographers, etc.) to use the computer even for faculty support. 

Since very few persons were developing course case material like 

Professor Jamboonath, there was no appreciation of the problem 

faced by him. Prof. Jamboonath also had a heavy teaching load 

almost twice the average faculty load that gave him little leeway to 

use computer centre facilities.  

  

One day he entered the office of Mr. Vikram, Project Manager 

(PM), who after retirement, as Chief Engineer of MES, had joined 

recently. They were good friends and shared each otherôs concerns 

as Professor Jamboonath also helped in Project Management as and 

when required by the Director when Mr. Vikram was on leave. The 

following transpired between them. 

  

Prof. J. : Good morning Mr. Vikram. What is the delay in hand 

over of the computer room for installation and 

commissioning of the PCXTs purchased three months 

ago? It was purchased in the first week of July and now 

the PCXTs are lying in the aisle. It is October 10th. The 

room has been painted long back and even an air 

conditioner has been fitted almost over a month ago.ò 
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Mr. Vikram:Come on Prof. J. It will not take much time now. Only 

a little work is left. By Nov. 1st week it should be 

handed over.  

Prof. J. : What is left to be done? Everything seems to be done.  

Mr. Vikram: We have to fix the lightning arrester for protection.  

Prof. J. : What is required? 

Mr. Vikram: We have to make a pit and fix lightning arrester in 

that.  

Prof. J. : How large is the pit. Is it 1m x 1m or 3m x 3m? Is it 

1 ft deep or 10 ft?  

Mr. Vikram: Oh no, it is only 1.5 x 1.5 x 2 ft size.  

Prof. J. :How about the lightning arrester? Is it imported or 

available locally?ò  

Mr. Vikram: It is available locally.  

Prof. J. : How far? Is it near the airport (20 km away) or close 

by say 1 km?ò  

Mr. Vikram: No, no, not that far. It is available in the main market 

5 km away.  

Prof. J. : How costly is it? Is it in lakhs or thousands?  

Mr. Vikram: Oh no. It hardly costs Rs. 500/-. 

Prof. J. : Sir, you have been provided a jeep with a driver. You 

also have an imprest of Rs. 2000/-. Why canôt you give 

the money to the driver and ask him to bring the 

arrester by the afternoon? You can also hire a labourer 

for half a day for Rs. 20/-. A large number of labourers 

stand at the corner of the Institute in the morning, 

creating a traffic jam. He can finish the work by 

lunchtime. In the afternoon, the plate can be fixed and 

wiring done. By evening, the entire ósmall jobô will be 

done. Tomorrow the supplier can install and 

commission the 3 PCXTs, and I can use the PCXTs day 

after tomorrow. 

Mr. Vikram: Donôt pull my leg. It will be done. 

  

Surprise of surprises! On the third day, the job was done. Not only 

Prof. Jamboonath but even other faculty members started using the 

computer centre. For example, a senior Professor of MIS ð Prof. 

Singh ð was going to attend the MIS conference with 25 pages of 
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the manuscript of a research paper. He was wondering how to get 

it typed. Prof. Jamboonath suggested that he carry a soft copy and 

a printout. The Professor was not convinced that it would be 

possible as he was to leave two days later. Prof. Jamboonath 

suggested that he should give it a try and give it to an assistant Mr. 

Praveen, to whom Prof. Jamboonath had introduced the basics of 

WordStar. Prof. Singh was pleasantly surprised when the boy typed 

25 pages the next day and gave it to Prof. Singh. Gradually, other 

staff members learnt to use the computer, which came in handy six 

months later when the intake of the Instituteôs MBA programme 

was increased from 30 to 100 in four monthsô time. 

  

Twenty years later, Dr. Jamboonath narrated the story to a newly 

appointed Director of a sister institute, who wondered about the 

delay, the reasons thereof and the attendant consequences. Dr. 

Jamboonath quipped, ñHave things really changed?ò 
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19.  Creation of a Computer Centre for Training 
 

Creating a centre for computer training at a low cost of a few lakh 

rupees was a great surprise to all concerned from the Head Office 

to college. No one expected this as the cost of creation of a 

computer centre in those days used to be several millions of rupees, 

and the cost of civil work itself used to be over Rs. 5 million. 

 

Background of the Case 

 

It was in the year 1984. The use of computers was limited to very 

large business organisations and leading academic institutions 

only. Typically, they had Mainframe computers while the use of 

minicomputers had also started. The Indian Bank Association had 

entered into an agreement with various staff unions in banks for 

introducing computers in the banks. The Head Office had sent a 

letter to the Principal of the bankôs apex staff college asking him to 

develop and suggest the action plan that the college proposed for 

computer training of the officers and others, to be able to use 

computers when the bank introduced the same. The Principal asked 

Mr. Vaishampayan to draft a reply to the letter as no one else in the 

college had any idea about computers. The Principal had asked Mr. 

Vaishampayan to prepare the reply as the latter had worked in a 

large engineering company before joining the bankôs staff college, 

where he had developed computer programmes (software) for the 

commercial department and written a case study which was 

published in a leading management journal of the country.  

 

Mr. Vaishampayan had been appointed in the Apex college of the 

Bank along with six others as senior faculty members with a non-

banking background to bring fresh ideas in the bank and work like 

a change agent to elevate the staff college from a college for 

training a probationary officer to an Apex college for Executives 

(officers typically with 15-20 yearsô experience or more). He had 

started designing and conducting several new programmes like 

Organisation and Methods, Management Information Systems and 

Managing Organisational Change which no other faculty member 

was doing. The Bank ranked number two among the commercial 
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banks nationalized in 1969. There were close to 100 executives at 

Chief Manager/ Regional Manager level and about 300 at the 

Senior Manager level. Mr. Vaishampayan had also started a novel 

two week-long General Management programmes for the 

executives for the first time in the banks. The design included a 

three-hour module on Computer Appreciation, for which the 

previous Principal had reprimanded him saying, ñHow dare you 

use the word computers in the bank?ò which was not unexpected 

in those days and in view of the Principalôs background of legal, 

personnel management and industrial relations fields in which he 

had spent most of his life. However, Mr. Vaishampayan was upset 

over the same as instead of appreciation he had been reprimanded.  

 

With his background in electrical and mechanical engineering, cost 

accounting and management, Mr. Vaishampayan was a man with 

varied interests, always inquisitive and curious to do things in new 

ways if not doing new things. One day, he entered a room with the 

college electrician and asked why there were two long cemented 

platforms with a machine only on one. The electrician replied that 

the machine was a compressor for centralized air conditioning 

which could be expanded as the need arose in the future by putting 

another compressor. Asked as to how much that would cost, the 

enlightened electrician replied that it could cost about Rs. 200,000. 

 

Likewise, one day he entered another room in the basement curious 

about where the sweeper went and what he did, only to notice that 

there was a big hall of about 30 x 60 feet, being used by the sweeper 

to put waste paper, broken furniture, etc. The rental in the area, 

which was a posh area of the town, an A-Class city of India, was 

about Rs. 10 per sq ft. óThis huge area costing about Rs. 18,000 per 

month, which is four times the salary of the Principal, is being used 

to store garbage,ô Mr. Vaishampayan wondered. 

 

The Reply 

 

Initially, Mr. Vaishampayan tried to wriggle out as he was peeved 

by the issue of computerization, especially because the letter had 

come from the Personnel Department which was headed by the 
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previous Principal who had reprimanded him just a year ago for 

using the word ócomputersô in the Executive Programme. 

However, he agreed to draft the reply as he could not refuse 

because the new Principal was a óniceô person who never 

maltreated him and supported him for initiatives like research. 

 

The Proposal 

 

In the reply, Mr. Vaishampayan developed an elaborate plan for 

computer training, which was partly due to vengeance and partly 

an outcome of all that he could think of. The proposal in the brief 

contained the following: 

 

1. Hardware Maintenance Training: For those who were to 

man the various computer centres of the bank, which were 

likely to be created at the Regional/Zonal offices as well as the 

Head Office. Training was to be given by computer suppliers/ 

maintenance agencies. 

2. Software Development Training: For training those who 

would be engaged in the development of software for various 

applications in the bank. Training to be given by companies 

like TCS and Academic Institutions like IITs, IIMs, etc. 

3. User-Oriented Training :  

a) For Executives/Officers in Zonal/Regional offices (where 

the computers would be installed) to help them familiarise 

themselves with computer use so that they could switch 

over and start using computers for quality decisions at high 

speed. All the Executives in the Regional/Zonal offices and 

departments at the Head Office and two officers reporting 

to each one of them would be given this training.   

b) One or two officers/staff of every branch would send 

information to regional and higher offices periodically on a 

regular/ad hoc basis. If they were not familiarized with the 

process, they would commit mistakes in sending 

information in the correct format, such that there was no 

mistake and data could be processed properly.  
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For 3(b) above, the proposal suggested a half a day training module 

to be conducted by faculty members at the 12 Regional Training 

Centres of the bank, who would be given training and also the 

necessary kit for the purpose by the apex college. 

 

The suggestion 3(a) above means that close to 1200 people had to 

be given three daysô hands-on training to provide them the 

confidence to use the computer in their office. One leading 

management institution was conducting a three-day programme for 

computer appreciation charging Rs. 3000/- per participant. To get 

1200 executives/officers trained, it would cost the bank about Rs. 

3.5 million. Further, the Institute would not conduct more than one 

or two programmes per year, training about 20 persons or so 

(sponsored training was not common at that time in leading 

management institutes). Thus, training close to 1200 people could 

take seven to ten years. There were no other avenues to get all the 

persons trained. The proposal, therefore, also suggested the 

creation of a 20 seater Computer Training Centre for training at the 

apex college at a cost of about Rs. 6 lakhs. Two/three faculty 

members of the college would be trained for the purpose. Mr. 

Vaishmpayan offered to start the same. One more faculty member 

of the college also offered to join the move.  

 

Response of the Head Office 

 

The Head Office was quite impressed with the overall plan but had 

reservations on two counts. One, the cost was underestimated; it 

would not be less than Rs. 1 crore, and this would throw the 

viability out in the winds. The Head Office, therefore, asked for an 

explanation. Mr. Vaishampayan became adamant and replied to the 

Head Office that the cost calculations were right. The Head Office 

asked how the computer centre would be created without including 

any cost of civil and electrical work. Mr. Vaishampayan replied 

that he was prepared to share all the details, provided the Head 

Office agreed for the creation of the centre at least in principle. 

After a few months, the Head Office indicated its consent and 

deputed two officers to get details of how the centre would be 

created. 
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Mr. Vaishampayan gave all the finer points on how the computer 

centre would be created in the library without any significant 

expenditure beyond the cost of computers (10 PCXTs, which had 

entered the Indian market). The library would be shifted to the large 

unused hall in the basement (which was twice as large as the 

library) with A.C. ducting work and the addition of a second 

compressor in the electrical room. The librarian was persuaded by 

the administrative staff who experienced discomfort due to poor air 

conditioning.  

 

The Clearance by the Head Office 

 

The people at the Head Office were pleasantly surprised to see the 

low-cost solution using the extra space available but no one 

contemplated using. Initially, it was thought to be used as a parking 

area, but due to certain logistic issues, it could not happen. 

However, since the foundation and plinth work for the column 

structure was already done, the area was covered and the room was 

created. 

 

The Head Office immediately cleared the proposal and the first 

computer centre for training in the banking industry was created. 

Mr. Vaishampayan was subsequently included in the Head Office 

committee for computerization of the Bank. After a few years, the 

college opened the training centre for training of officers of other 

banks and started generating some revenue also. 

 

Some faculty colleagues were of the opinion that Mr. 

Vaishampayan had only tricked the head office people into 

adopting his way of thinking to get the Centre created. The faculty 

member teaching personnel management was opposed to it as it 

involved labour issues, although he started using the facilities for 

typing work first, once the system stabilized and some secretarial 

staff learnt its use. But Mr. Vaishampayan was now thinking 

whether the creation of the computer centre could throw up a good 

business opportunity. 
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20.  Rewards Galore 
 

Introduction  

 

ñIn the past 25 years, the Institute has conferred several rewards on 

me. Some people call it severe penalties. Some Directors even tried 

to strangulate academics, perhaps inadvertently, sometimes at the 

advice of anxiety-marred professors, who were less keen to 

promote academics rather than politics.  But I donôt take it that way 

for if it was so, how did I last here for 25 years? The first faculty 

member to achieve the feat. In any case, the so-called penalties did 

not pain or deter me from my academic path. What pains me, 

however, is that the Institute missed so many wonderful 

opportunities,ò said Dr. Ahibans Chatterjee to a friend, reminiscing 

over his 25-year journey at the Institute.  

 

PHASE I:  THE FIRST THREE YEARS  

 

Dr. Chatterjee was working in a public sector company, 

conducting senior executive training, in-house consulting, 

introducing new concepts like Quality Circle and tools like the 

computer which was a new thing in companies in the early 

eighties. 

 

He was selected in the first lot of faculty. However, since he was 

offered Associate Professorship in the pay scale of Rs.1500-

2000, while he was already on the higher scale of Rs. 1800-2250 

in the company with various perquisites, the salary offered by the   

Institute was almost half, which he could not afford.  A year later 

the company agreed to relieve him on deputation at the request 

of the Institute, provided the Institute allowed him up to three 

months to do assignments in the company, like setting up a 

computer centre for training and computer training for officer and 
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executives, to which the Institute agreed. The company agreed to 

bear the difference in salary and he was relieved on deputation to 

the Institute for two years. On 31st December at 5.30 p.m., he took 

the first train at 8.00 p.m. and after a 42-hr journey, he reported 

on duty at 9 a.m. on 2nd January. 

 

He started preparing for the course from scratch as the first batch 

of PGP was going to be in the second year in 6 months. There 

were a few books in the library, but no other course material. He 

was to teach three different courses in three different disciplines 

in three different terms (IV, V & VI).  The first course was 

compulsory, but the two others were elective ones and had the 

highest subscription rate by students. In the summer, he was to 

do four computer training programmes in the company.  In the 

term break period, he would also conduct MDPs. Like others, he 

too had to shoulder the test centre coordination and interviews for 

PGP admission. No faculty member had taught three difference 

courses.  Indeed, many did not teach even one. No faculty in any 

similar institutes had taught three courses in three different areas 

in 20 years of management education in the country. Above all, 

he was asked to engage in case writing (no other person was 

asked to do so), and assume sundry responsibilities like guiding 

student projects, convocation and a bit of project management 

here and there. Besides that, he was also made the first Chairman 

(Placement). ñThere were no telephones, no guest house or 

institute transport facilities available for the purpose. We were 

able to place all the students in 12 days when all other leading 

institutions were keeping one to three months for getting the 

students placed, even if it meant disturbing the classes of the last 

term which we refused to do,ò said Dr. Chatterjee.  

 

Since the Director had told him at the time of selection that the 

basic hitch in offering him full Professorship was that he did not 

have teaching experience, after one year, he asked the Director 

whether he had any more reservations in his teaching and other 

abilities in view of the overall workload and the feedback he got 

from students.  He was asked to apply again and in the next round 

of faculty selection, he was selected as full Professor being the 
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only one out of four, one each from different areas who had 

applied.  

 

The first reward followed. While appointing him as Professor his 

normal increment differed by eight months (from January to 

August, the month he was promoted to Professor).  His salary was 

also not fixed as per the rules applicable for absorption at end of 

deputation period. The penalty was not to be only for the period 

of 23 years he served the Institute thereafter, but for his whole 

life, even in his post-retirement period, as he retires just one 

increment short of reaching the top of the Professorôs grade. The 

increment would be due on 1st July, just a day after his retirement 

on 30th June of the year. If the increment date was in January, he 

would have got one increment in July of the previous year and 

his pension would have been fixed accordingly. 

 

The other reward besides the promotion was a plaque presented 

by the first graduating batch that mentioned: Achievement is not 

to be measured so much in terms of material position to which 

one has reached but in terms of the number of hurdles he has 

overcome in trying to do so. The gift remains a cherished 

possession for him and has been a guiding factor in my 25-year 

journey,ò said Dr. Chatterjee.  

 

PHASE II: THE NEXT THREE YEARS  

 

Life continued like this, till the new Director joined. Prior to 

joining the Institute, she was head of a management school of a 

century-old reputed university. ñShe pushed him to assume the 

responsibility of PGP Chairmanship to see through 3.5 times rise 

in the PGP intake, achieving the feat in the fifth year for which 

other similar institutions took 8-15 years,ò said Dr. Chatterjee. 

Partly it was due to detailed work that he had done in developing 

a perspective plan for the Institute about a year ago. ñWe had to 

face as many as 10 daunting tasks (see Case Fun of Case Writing- 

B). However, we were able to do it,ò he said. Besides teaching 5 

courses alongside the PGP Chairmanship, he also had to bear 

administrative responsibilities as earlier. He also continued to 
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engage in case writing (which was given the importance of a 

research work and a special request was made by the Faculty 

Council for that) and other course material development. Several 

innovative practices were introduced by him. He was also 

requested to assist in campus construction work.  

 

Several rewards followed. His salary after pay revision was fixed 

in such a way that he started drawing two increments less than 

the Professor who was drawing three increments less than him 

before the pay revision. She also changed the rules to deny him 

an honorarium for a sponsored training programme, for which he 

had realised full payment. The other faculty members who 

conducted similar programmes, but had not realised full payment, 

got the honorarium.  The third ñrewardò she gave was denying 

him a visit to a European institution under the Exchange 

Programme, despite being selected by the host institution. 

ñPerhaps because she was unhappy with me due to my refusal to 

complain to her against the Chief Administrative Officer to let 

the latterôs services be terminated,ò said Dr. Chatterjee.  The 

dream of starting a Management Centre for Developing 

Countries (even before SAARC was formed) was also shattered 

by her. Working over 18-20 hours for the whole year damaged 

his metabolic system and one day he literally collapsed and was 

confined to bed for a week.  

 

PHASE III: THE NEXT TWO YEARS  

 

The  next  two  years  were  quite  tense but   academically  more  

rewarding. A new acting Director, who had been an officer in the 

state government including a short tenure as IAS officer, joined 

the Institute. ñHe agreed to my request of not being laden with 

any academic administration responsibility,ò said Dr. Chatterjee. 

This helped in remaining devoted to academics full time. Thus, 

despite being away for nine months during the two-year period, 

he was able to teach nine PGP courses, and finish an exciting 

three-part case study on Mergers during his visit abroad. The 

teaching notes turned out to be a research paper and this was 

presented in a special session designed for the purpose of an 
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important national conference. He also presented the case study 

at an international conference. Over and above this, he designed 

and launched the first MDP and PGP course in the country on 

Mergers and Acquisitions. He also organised the first follow-up 

round table meet with other leading sister institutes. All of them 

were the first initiatives at the Institute. New innovative practices 

in reducing the size (and thus the cost) of course material were 

also introduced by him.  Two week-long sponsored MDPs were 

conducted on the campus for the first time by him.  

 

However, the proposal to set up a Euro-India Management Centre 

with $3 mn funding was scuttled.  He was also not allowed to 

launch a PGP course in 1992-2003 on the technical ground that 

he was not present at the area meeting to approve the course 

outline. He was physically in Europe, sent by the Institute under 

the European Exchange Programme.  His college-going 

daughter, who was the eldest in the campus, was also denied 

Institute transport for being dropped and picked from college on 

the way from the schools of children, on the pretext that the 

Institute transport could be given only for school-going children, 

although there was no public transport to the city which was 12 

km away. ñEven attendantsô children were not given this kind of 

treatment,ò said Dr. Chatterjee. He was also denied the 

opportunity to choose the newly built houses when the Institue 

shifted to the campus, by putting the last date for application, just 

a day before his return from Europe where he was sent by the 

Institute. ñIt pinched, as I was the only faculty who had helped 

the previous Director in expeditiously completing phase I of the 

campus construction,ò he said. ñYou canôt expect a house of your 

choice when you are humiliated by being asked to accept a 

smaller table of assistants because your table could not enter the 

office room. How similar tables of other Professors could enter 

similar rooms or even my table could enter the same room just a 

day before the newly appointed regular director took charge is a 

different story,ò said Dr. Chatterjee. 
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PHASE IV: THE NEXT FIVE YEARS  

 

The period was a mixed bag for the Institute as well as for him.  

ñThe new Director came from an IIT, which has well laid out 

systems, policies and procedures for running affairs, along with 

a joint consultative council. At times, he found it a little difficult 

to appreciate the entire spectrum of academic activities of a 

management institute. He also faced problems in pushing the 

development of infrastructure and policies and rules for new 

initiatives,ò said Dr. Chatterjee. On the flip side, the first year was 

perhaps the best year for him academically. He taught six PGP 

courses (a record among similar Institutions), could conduct five 

MDPs of which two were week-long sponsored programmes, and 

three open programmes (one of a week long and two of three days 

each).  The income generated by the MDP itself covered the total 

salary paid to him by the Institute. He also presented two major 

research papers in the closing seminar of the Euro India 

Exchange Programme. Responding to the Institute Board 

decision, he also engaged in case material development, in which 

40 PGP students out of 84 joined him, a marathon exercise the 

first of its kind. The first three days MDP on Strategic 

Management was also organised by him to conduct the trial run 

of the cases prepared. This culminated in the first Case Series of 

the Institute.  Two research papers also came out of the 

experience of studentsô case writing. 

 

This peak academic performance, which no faculty member has 

ever been able to emulate, fetched commensurate rewards. The 

Director refused to bear the cost of Xeroxing and binding the first 

Case Series of the Institute. Dr. Chatterjee had to conduct the first 

open MDP on Strategic Management to generate a surplus to get 

the copies made. It is a different matter that all the copies 

remained locked in the Directorôs cupboard. Neither the 

companies nor the students who wrote the case got a copy and 

none of those connected with it were seen in the photograph with 

the Honôble Minister of HRD releasing the first case series.  

 

The Director scuttled the first collaborative research project with  
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European and Indian Institutions. He did not allow even the 

payment of travel expenses out of the $1000 sanctioned by 

external agencies for Dr. Chatterjee (even though the 

reimbursement was claimed and realised) towards the first 

International Collaborative Research work with the four leading 

Management Institutes of U.K, France, Spain and Netherlands. 

ñShocking, isnôt it? But by now I was accustomed to paying the 

price for academics and the building of the Institution,ò said Dr. 

Chatterjee. ñThe denial of transport to my daughter continued. 

She suffered pain and agony. One day she drained out badly and 

fell sick, bringing down my academic performance to a third. 

This was perhaps because I had done the maximum that year 

academically, which was not tolerated by my younger colleagues 

who were in charge of transport services,ò he said. 

 

He even refused permission to publish a casebook, in which some 

cases were those prepared by students (whom Dr. Chatterjee had 

promised to publish if possible) on the pretext that all the cases 

prepared by him were the Instituteôs property (that not all the 

cases were prepared during Dr. Chatterjeeôs  service at the 

Institute is a different matter).   

 

The Director also did not permit the registered office of the only 

professional body in the country floated by Dr. Chatterjee for 

furthering the cause of strategic management education.  ñHe was 

so upset with the first conference organised by me at the Institute 

that first he tried to scuttle it, and when he failed to stop it, he 

gave such a stinker at the end of the conference that he could not 

take meals for two days,ò said Dr. Chatterjee.  

 

He also did not implement the perspective plan which the Board 

of Governors had approved, which could have taken the Institute 

to commanding heights, in terms of size, new initiatives to meet 

growing requirements of the country, research, faculty 

development and internationalisation. For example, if he had 

implemented the plan in letter and spirit, the Institute would have 

been grooming at least 25 doctoral students, which is more than 

required for starting a new IIM every year. It would also have 
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trained at least 15 faculty members of universities and other 

management schools under its M.Phil. Programme, besides 

developing ten in-house management trainers in management for 

large corporate training establishments. 

 

Its Academic Resources Park would have developed high-quality 

course material to meet most of the requirements of the course 

material for MBA programmes in various management schools.  

 

The International exposure would have been given to all the 

faculty members in ten years to help joint Training 

Programmes/conferences with partner foreign institutions for 

mutual benefits and let the faculty take up serious research 

projects to help true and meaningful internationalisation of not 

only the Institute but also the industry and business. The 

multiplier effect would encourage other management schools to 

also internationalise their thinking.  

 

Finally, he earned a great honour of having the first strike at the 

Institute in which both faculty and staff joined to throw him out.   

The strike fizzled out and the faculty became indifferent to him, 

letting him do whatever he felt like.  He had great expertise of 

retrogressive HRD, to which a prominent Board Member once 

commented, ñYou have such great competence that even if we 

give you a Cabinet Secretary, you will reduce him to a clerk.ò  

 

ñThe new initiatives proposed by us would perhaps have 

materialized if there was a strong Chairman, planning and 

development, which focused exclusively on shaping the future of 

the Institute, without any engagement whatsoever in day-to-day 

routine matters,ò said Dr. Chatterjee reflecting on the reasons for 

missed opportunities. 

 

Prof. Ahibanôs friend wondered how many penalties, if any, Prof. 

Ahiban Chatterjee had been given and for what? Did the Institute 

lose something? What? He also wondered if anyone else was in 

the place of Dr. Chatterjee, would he have behaved in a different 

manner? 
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He also wondered who was responsible for it. If he were a 

member of the Board of Governors of the Institute, what action 

would he have taken? Above all, if he was in the Ministry, how 

would he look at the issues contained in the case? What could be 

done to avert the same in other upcoming institutions? 
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21.  Punctuality 
 

Mr. H.B. Vatia, the Branch Manager of Kenya Main Branch of 

Kamini Bank, was wondering as to what can be done to restore the 

punctuality of staff in his branch (Kumar, 1984). The majority of the 

staff was taking time off from work on a number of occasions during 

the day, which resulted in work remaining incomplete; besides it 

involved payment of overtime for its completion. 

 

The problem was generally not faced by other banks in Kenya, except 

in Bharat Bank, another Indian Bank having branches in Kenya. 

Other local and British banks were able to exercise sufficient control 

over their staff to ensure proper attendance. 

 

Initially, Mr. Vatia tried to persuade the staff to be punctual. He 

sermonised them too on several occasions.  None of these methods, 

however, made any dent in the problem. Once he failed using these 

methods, he finally resorted to punishing the erring members of the 

staff.  This led to some improvement but not the desired one.  Mr. 

Vatia also felt that prolonged use of this method would lead to more 

serious trouble.  He, therefore, thought of analysing the situation and 

identifying the root cause of the problem. 

 

His investigation of the habits formed revealed that the unauthorised 

ótime offô was used mainly for personal work which included 

shopping, personal errands, meeting friends, going for coffee, etc.  

When caught, the general explanation given by the staff was that they 

had gone out for a cup of coffee.  Mr. Vatia noticed that no canteen 

facilities were available in the branch nor was there any space where 

it could be set up.  The British and other local banks, however, had 

made adequate provisions for the purpose. 

 

An automatic coffee vending machine was installed, but the move 

did not succeed as the staff complained that the coffee given was not 

up to standard. The members of staff protested and refused to use the 

machine.     

 

Mr. Vatia also noticed that the muster roll of the branch did not have  
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any provision for marking the period of the absence by a member of 

staff in the event he had to go out and it was not possible either to 

know or to control the period of his absence.  

 

To overcome this, he decided to install a ótime clockô at the main gate 

with 'in & out' trays and the staff were advised to use the attendance 

cards for marking their arrival, departure and also absence periods. 

Authorised outside work could be authenticated by the immediate 

Officer/Supervisor. 

 

The idea was brought to the notice of the branch union by the staff.  

There was resistance to the idea initially.  Mr. Vatia however, pointed 

out to them that this was a scientific method of recording the 

attendance and it was not possible to falsify the same.  As it happened 

during that period only, the services of three members of staff were 

terminated for dishonesty and fraud.  They had altered the time 

marked in the muster rolls for departure, thereby claiming overtime 

for the period not worked by them.  This was proved by the 

photocopy of the day's muster taken by Mr. Vatia from time to time 

during an unscheduled visit to the branch, late at night without any 

indication to anyone in the branch.  

 

Mr. Vatia pointed out to the union representatives that by the 

introduction of the ótime clockô the temptation to alter time by 

members of the staff would be removed as it was for the long-term 

benefit of the staff.  The union almost came round to accepting the 

idea, but still was not fully convinced. 

 

At this stage, however, the Regional Manager having come to know 

of the proposed time clock from the President of the union suggested 

to Mr. Vatia that as no other bank in Kenya had adopted the 

procedure, Mr. Vatia should have this scheme approved by the 

Secretary of the Kenya Bankers Association. 

 

The approach to the Secretary was a failure.  He was a man of old 

British traditions and was shocked at the idea of the introduction of a 

time clock in the banking industry there.  All efforts to convince him 

that there was nothing wrong with it and that most offices of major 
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corporations had this system did not move him.  Other bankers when 

individually contacted also did not favour the idea.    

 

Not willing to go all alone, the Regional Manager advised Mr. Vatia 

to shelve the idea. 

 

Mr. Vatia tells the story to his friends even today, 30 years later, 

and still wonders where the hell he went wrong. 
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22.  The Birth of an Orphan 
 

ñAfter receiving the letter, I could not take meals for two days,ò 

said Prof. Nandkumar of the IMX Institute of Management. ñAfter 

all the painstaking efforts to organise the first conference when 

there was no infrastructure, this is what you get. I had to run around 

and be accountable for everything, from the printing of brochures, 

getting delegates, looking after arrangements for conduction of the 

conference, bothering about getting payments, settling bills to 

forming a professional body, and the director only asks questions 

and refuses permissions. Had it not been my good friends, the PM 

and CAO (Chief Administrative Officer), the conference would not 

have materialised. And to cap it all, the Director felt humiliated for 

something which to my recollection I had not done. Never again, I 

resolved in my mind,ò he concluded. 

 

The Genesis 

 

The genesis of the Conference was the first faculty development 

programme. IMX was 10 years old and did not have any regular 

MDP infrastructure. It operated with 18 seats in a classroom and 

20 beds, stopgap boarding/lodging facilities in ten small two- 

bedroom houses for the purpose. Having come out of a major strike 

by the faculty and staff against the Director (in which Prof. 

Nandkumar refused to be dragged by either side), Prof. Prasad, the 

Director, was happy with a PGP intake of 120 students.  

 

Sometime in August 1994, Prof. Prasad was elected as Vice-

President of AIMS. In April 1995, AIMS invited a proposal under 

the AIMS-CCMS programme, which provided grants for 

supporting research, faculty development programmes, etc. The 

Director asked Prof. Nandkumar to do give a proposal. The latter 

made a proposal for FDP on óLaunching a Strategic Management 

Courseô and the programme was conducted from January 22-27, 

1996. The programme had an overwhelming response with 35 

participants, more than half of them being readers, professors, 
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HOD, Chairmen of PGP, etc. They had to be squeezed in facilities 

for 30 participants.  

 

Somehow the participants liked the pedagogy of the programme 

and in the valedictory session asked for raising a low-cost platform 

wherein they could meet (to update themselves through a collegiate 

system of learning) at least once a year, even at their own expense. 

Prof. Nandkumar, taken aback by such a request, contacted his 

Ph.D. guide, Prof. Ganesh, Director of a leading management 

institute (IPXM) under MHRD, about whether the latter could 

provide leadership for such an initiative. Since his response was 

encouraging, it was decided to forge a platform with Prof. Ganesh 

as Chairman and one participant of the programme ð Prof. Vittal 

ð as Secretary. It was also decided to meet on 27th January, 1997 

in the first conference, exactly one year from the valedictory date. 

 

Another participant, a senior professor from BIBM, a leading 

management institute, offered to organise the first conference. 

Prof. Vittal was to form and get the body registered at a Society in 

Delhi. However, when Prof. Ganesh contacted the director of the 

BIBM institute in August 1996, the latter regretted it. He then 

explored the possibility in his institute (IPXM) also, but the 

infrastructure was already committed for some other events on 

those days. Prof. Ganesh also explored faculty support from his 

Institute. 

 

The Opportunity  

 

Prof. Prasad had also asked Prof. Nandkumar to organise a 

conference like the annual conference of AIMS. In October 1996, 

when Prof. Nandkumar learnt that even the second possibility 

would not materialise, it occurred to him that perhaps IMX had an 

opportunity to host the first conference.  

 

ñTwenty years  ago, in 1976, my teacher Prof. C.K. Prahalad had 

mentioned that for professional advancement the faculty members  

in each discipline must meet at least once in a year to exchange 

experiences, share their work, develop friendly relationships with 
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the faculty of other institutions for joint research and literature 

development, groom faculty, etc. Since the suggestion had 

emerged from the participants of the faculty development in 

January 1996, I thought perhaps the idea would take off for such a 

platform. When the Institute of the Chairman also expressed 

difficulties, I thought of doing it at IMX. I hoped the director would 

whole-heartedly support it because he had asked for organising a 

conference. But it turned out to be nightmarish with a number of 

arrangements to be made, solutions to be given, clarifications to be 

provided, denial of permissions and help, especially because as I 

was badly caught in my own heavy academic load of teaching, 

MDP, and literature development besides administrative work of 

board and others,ò said Prof. Nandkumar. 

 

Exploring the Possibility 

 

Prof. Nandkumar sent a letter to the Director on October 10, 1996, 

that there was a possibility of having the First Annual Conference 

of Strategic Management Forum at IMX, enclosing a draft of a 

letter to the Chairman of the (informal) Forum. 

 

On October 14, Monday, a note from the Director was received, 

asking for the expected number of delegates and how the 

arrangements would be made as neither classroom nor hostel 

would be available. He also wondered how the boarding would be 

arranged.  

 

ñThis made me think,ò said Prof. Nandkumar, ñIf  this way the 

progress of campus construction continued, even next year increase 

in PGP intake would take place as pointed out by him in a Board 

meeting.ò His apprehension emanated from his association with 

project work as a member of the campus planning and development 

committee until a few months back. Having seen the completion of 

a 120 seater classroom in 25 days flat when the PGP batch size was 

increased from 30 to over 100, Prof. Nandkumar was convinced 

that construction could be expedited. He thought holding the 

Conference would help in expediting completion of some buildings 
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in time for having increased batch size which had been held for 

seven years already. 

 

The Arrangements 

 

On October 16, Prof. Nandkumar replied how alternative 

arrangements could be made if the Conference was to be organised 

(see exhibit 4). The Director was, however, not convinced and felt 

that many ad hoc arrangements were being proposed and since 

Prof. Nandkumar was very busy with his MDP, he (Prof. 

Nandkumar) should arrange a meeting of the Director, PM and 

CAO as per the convenience of all concerned. Alongside the 

directorôs note dated 17.10.96, Prof. Nandkumar also received a 

note from CAO that the latter would be proceeding on leave from 

18th to 27th October.  

Prof. Nandkumar was very much peeved with this and replied that 

the administrative matter be sorted out at the Directorôs end and he 

be informed about the final decision. He also marked a copy to the 

PM and CAO. 

The replies of the PM and CAO were very encouraging. Prof. 

Nandkumar had worked with them as a member of the Board and 

campus construction committee and was convinced that once these 

two persons put their heart into it, the Institute could hold the 

Conference. He forwarded their views to the Director. 

 

Inching Forward  

 

On 11th November, Prof. Nandkumar learnt that the Chairman had 

approved the proposal. But no formal letter had come to the IMX 

Director. Being reminded on the 14th, the Chairman sent implied 

consent to Prof. Nandkumar, but regretted that the faculty members 

would not be able to assume any responsibility (see exhibit 7). 

There was no confirmation from the faculty member of another 

institute to assume responsibility of another module. ñThis meant 

that I had to assume responsibility of organising all the three 

academic modules, besides other arrangements,ò said Prof.  
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Nandkumar.  

 

Prof. Nandkumar forwarded the fax to the Director, with the note 

that if the latter agreed to be the Chairman of the Organising 

Committee, he would be willing to go ahead, else the chapter could 

be closed. The Director sought clarification about the organising 

secretary and financial responsibility. Prof. Nandkumar agreed to 

be the Organising Secretary and explained that funding was to be 

done through registration fees. 

 

Finally, on Friday, 22nd November, Prof. Nandkumar decided to 

close the chapter and drafted a fax to be sent on 26th November, if 

by Monday 25th November, the Director did not decide the matter.   

 

The Setback 

 

On 28th November Prof. Rao, Secretary of the Forum enquired 

about the arrangements being made. Prof. Nandkumar drafted a 

reply and forwarded it for the Directorôs approval so that the 

brochure for the Conference could be released. The Director agreed 

to it subject to certain conditions. He, however, had not agreed to 

allow the registration fee to be received by the Institute. This meant 

an account had to be opened in the name of the Forum itself. This 

required that a formal body be created fast. However, around mid-

December, the Secretary expressed his inability to get the Forum 

registered as a society and asked Prof. Nandkumar to do the same. 

ñMy God ð how to do that?ò wondered Prof. Nandkumar. 

 

Formation of the Forum  

 

Luckily, Prof. Nandkumar had been Secretary to the Board and the 

Society of IMX a few years back and had a copy of the Society 

memorandum. He modified it to form a new society. The problem 

was how to get the signature of the Chairman. The latter advised to 

get in touch with the Executive Director of a public sector company 

(on which Prof. Nandkumar had done a case study) who was a 

common friend. He agreed. The MD of another company for whom 

Prof. Nandkumar had done a consultation agreed to be the 



 

94 
 

Treasurer. Prof. Nandkumar agreed to be the Secretary of the 

Society. Some other faculty members of IMX and participants of 

the first FDP became other members to meet the requirements of 

the Society formation.  

 

The Director of IMX refused to allow IMX a registered office 

address. He did not allow even his officer, who had the necessary 

experience, to help in drafting and filing of the registration papers. 

Fortunately, Prof. Nandkumar had a house in the city, which was 

made his registered office.  

 

Despite apprehensions, there were no difficulties created by the 

registrar office and two weeks later the Forum was registered as a 

Society, just a week before the Conference. 

 

Conference 

 

The Project Manager extended full support to expedite the 

completion of the dining hall and just in time the door and windows 

were fitted. Thirty rooms in the studentsô hostel were also 

completed on the day previous to the commencement of the 

Conference. The CAO also used his might to help. 

 

The Conference was attended by over 45 delegates from various 

management schools. A book by an author ð Delegate on 

Strategic Management ð was released. The Instructor Manual of 

Prof. Nandkumarôs Case Book (published the previous year) 

requested by participants of the first FDP was also completed and 

released. Some Directors and Vice Chancellors also attended the 

conference. 

 

On the last day, the election for new office bearers of the Forum 

was held. Unfortunately, no one proposed the name of IMX 

director for any position. ñI refrained from doing it because I did 

not want to organise any other event desired by the director. One 

experience was more than enough,ò said Prof. Nandkumar. 

 

Commenting on the letter by the Director, Prof. Nandkumar said,  
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ñIt hurt. But I was happy that now at least one PGP hostel of 60 

rooms and the dining hall would be operational to ensure that the 

PGP intake is increased to 180, something which had not happened 

for seven years. The experience of the coinciding inauguration of a 

major event to expedite the completion of the building was a great 

lesson that helped me to complete the construction work that was 

stuck in another Institute when I joined there as Director,ò he said.  

 

ñThe formation of a platform for the annual interaction of faculty 

members in my discipline, a dream I cherished for 20 years was 

also realised,ò Prof. Nandkumar said. 

 

ñThere was no further conference in IMX until 2001, which I 

organised under the aegis of the Forum. But thatôs another story,ò 

smiled Prof. Nandkumar. 

 

ñIf it was possible to organise the Conference, why did the Director 

not approve it in the first place? Why were both of them feeling 

hurt? Was it avoidable? Why was no other conference held for the 

next four years? Will the Forum survive? Is there a Role of Orphans 

in the Society?ò These were some questions that puzzled Dr. 

Nandkumar, even after retirement. 
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23.  The Two Worlds 
 

The Board of the Governor of the IMX Institute was very keen 

about faculty development programmes and case/course material 

development.  The Board had approved a perspective plan way 

back in 1992-93 but not much progress was seen.  In the year 2000, 

the institute started a Ph.D. programme, but it could not scale up 

and in 15 years up to 2015, only about three dozen doctoral students 

graduated. Nothing, however, could happen for a sustained, 

lifelong exercise for faculty development at different levels in a 

concerted manner. For the development of in-house faculty, 

allowance for attending conferences in the country and abroad was 

introduced but it was availed by only a few young faculty members, 

that too for participating only in international conferences.  

Independent research by senior faculty members was very low-key 

and most were quite satisfied by adding their name to research 

papers prepared by doctoral students, mandated for publication.  

On the course material front, hardly anything happened despite a 

good number of faculty members having been sent abroad for case 

development workshops and programmes.  Writing books was rare 

and did not get encouragement.   

 

While the new director who joined in 1999 encouraged the 

organisation of national and international seminars and 

conferences, his successor, Dr. Vikas, who joined in 2003 and 

reigned for over 10 years, detested it and felt it was a waste of time 

and money and that the faculty used the money to go for excursions 

in the name of attending conferences. In case of grooming the 

faculty of other management schools, although the Board was very 

keen and wished to create a faculty development centre, successive 

efforts of putting proposals to the MHRD (Ministry of Human 

Resource Development) failed as proposals typically sought huge 

grants for non-recurring and recurring expenses, (which had a huge 

component of honorarium to faulty in line with the rate for 

sponsored training programmes (treated as consultancy). The 

Instituteôs open MDP was limping with not so impressive a turnout 

but sponsored training was a good revenue and surplus generator.  

The Board appreciated it and was happy with the ever increasing 
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size of the corpus fund through sponsored training and increase in 

MBA fees (which had gone up fourfold in seven years). 

 

One of the reasons for the failure of the open faculty development 

programme was costing. The Director and successive MDP 

Chairmen were aiming at rates as high as those for sponsored 

MDPs which was five to ten times of what the open FDPôs 

participants could bear, although the rates that open FDP 

participants could bear could cover all the out-of-pocket costs and 

a good part of facilities lay idle (full expenses were being incurred 

for maintenance and upkeep).  The building expenditure was 

already paid by the MHRD and thus no charge for that was needed. 

The Institute could support eight to ten FDPs at low cost which was 

within reach of FDP participants. 

 

The other major problem was faculty reluctance. After meeting the 

minimum workload requirement, many were keen to write either a 

research paper to present at an international conference or earn a 

sumptuous honorarium by taking classes in sponsored training 

programmes. 

 

The remaining were content with gossiping, politicking and 

bickering after meeting the minimum workload requirement, 

especially full Professors, who had nothing to look forward to 

gaining (like further promotion) or losing.  The academic 

administration position was not respected as they were perceived 

to be doled out to those whom the Director liked. 

 

Even then, some diehard optimists who tried to engage in other 

things had to face various hurdles.  Organising conferences, 

seminars and open faculty development programmes, which were 

more demanding tasks, did not find a place even in the workload 

norms of the faculty, leave alone any incentive for earning or 

appreciation from the director. If one came forward to conduct two 

programmes, the director would not allow more than one. He never 

inaugurated or met the participants of open FDPs.  Encouraged by 

such an attitude of the director, the staff of the MDP office also 

threw spanners by asking to get repeated approvals from the MDP 
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Chairman/Director, even after all-inclusive approvals were given 

by the Director.  One assistant went to the extent of telling a senior 

Professor that the Institute had stopped providing course material 

and the coordinator (the professor) should seek special permission 

for Xeroxing the course material/case material (which the professor 

had prepared with extensive effort) as the material was about 200 

pages.  The professor retorted that he would not seek any such 

approval, but if the material was not prepared for participants, he 

would abstain from the programme as he could not conduct any 

class without the course material/case material, which was going 

to be the basis for class discussion.  The coordinator occasionally 

had to pay taxi fares for guests he invited for a few classes or 

requested them to bear it themselves. The programme assistant 

would create hassles in settling payments.  Once a Board member 

of IMX came for a lecture and claimed a taxi fare of Rs. 600/- on a 

piece of paper.  The assistant later asked the coordinator to get the 

guestôs signature on the claim, which meant the coordinator had to 

pay as much from his pocket to send a person by taxi to get the 

signature costing Rs. 600/-.  He paid the bill himself to settle the 

issue. 

 

Things did not change much even after the director Dr. Vikas 

relinquished office. When requested by Professor Abhimanyu in 

October 2014 (who was the only faculty member who was 

conducting one open FDP every year even after retirement for the 

last three years, free of charge) the Acting Director (AC), Dr. 

Nagendra, suggested that since he was now retired, a faculty 

member who was in regular service of the institute should conduct 

the programme.  From where such faculty could be procured was a 

moot point.  If one or more of the seven regular faculty members 

were keen to do that, Prof. Abhimanyu did not have to do it after 

retirement. Prof. Abhimanyu somehow convinced a young 

Assistant Professor ð Dr. Virendrað to formally coordinate the 

programme. 

 

Dr. Virendra accepted the request and the proposal was put up to 

the AC for approval.  The Director then said he did not wish to use 

his discretion and wanted to work through the system and referred 
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the proposal to the MDP Chairman (another Assistant Professor) 

who decided to discuss the matter with the MDP committee and 

formulate a policy for FDP before deciding the issue. 

 

After three months, the MDP Chairman informed that Rs. 15,000/- 

be charged as registration fee for FDP.  This was above Rs. 

10,000/-, which the programme was allowed to be charged by the 

Governing Board of a professional body under whose aegis the 

programme was to be done.  In the past, the director had been 

abiding by the uniform low fee suggested by the professional body. 

Other partner institutions that were conducting the FDP also agreed 

to charge a uniform fee.  They were sister institutions, all promoted 

by MHRD and charged a low fee as a national cause because the 

programme was in a discipline where there was an acute shortage 

of faculty. IMX was the registered office of the professional body 

and the Board had accorded permission to have the registered 

office of the body in its campus.  Two members of the governing 

board of IMX were also members of the governing board of the 

professional body. 

 

Months passed.  In the meantime, the AC asked Dr. Virendra that 

since the programme was to be conducted at the second campus, 

the approval of the MDP chairman of the other campus also needed 

to be taken. The other MDP chairman said that he would like to go 

with the MDP Chairman of the main campus. He, however, 

proposed that if the participants could be kept in the studentsô 

hostel, he could plead for lower rates. The idea was shelved, 

however, when the coordinator pointed out that many participant 

faculty members from various management institutes could be 

holding higher ranks and positions in their institutions and 

universities than they did.  It was then decided to try the proposal 

when the new regular director joined. 

 

Professor Abhimanyu was wondering as to why things went wrong 

in conducting FDP in IMX despite the keenness and unequivocal 

support of the Board of Governors. When he was deputed to a sister 

institution, which was 12 years younger, he faced all infrastructure 

problems (no classrooms, executive hostel, dining room, etc.). Still , 
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the Institute was able to do six-eight FDPs every year.  Now it was 

doing over a dozen programmes every year. In ten years from 2004, 

it had done over 100 week-long programmes of over 650 days, 

which over 2200 faculty members had attended, while IMX could 

not conduct even ten FDPs during the period.   

 

The only thing he did was create an improvised infrastructure, 

make a faculty member (who was sold to the idea of FDP) the 

Chairman of FDP (separating FDP task from Chairman MDP) and 

allow 0.5 credit for FDP in the Annual Workload of a faculty, 

which was minimum six credit.  He also did not miss inaugurating 

an FDP or delivering a valedictory address if he was in town.  He 

had highlighted the importance of FDP (in the perspective plan that 

he presented to the faculty, staff and Board members on his joining) 

as an indirect contribution to management education. Forty 

teachers trained in a programme could benefit 2000-4000 students, 

year after year.  No such emphasis and clarity existed in IMX, he 

felt.  Despite his best efforts, he could not give impetus to the 

activity for over the 20 years he secured IMX as a senior professor 

and having been even the Dean more than once.   

 

óPerhaps the very mould in which the two institutions are cast now 

are different,ô he thought. ñPerhaps IMX should be engaged in 

commercial activities more, not development activities like FDP.ò 

How to break it continues to puzzles him, the seventh director and 

the Board members 
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24.  Mission at Grass Roots 
 

Way back in 1988, I went to develop a case study on the first 

corporate hospital of India, which had earned a name as a highly 

respected super-specialty hospital in a little over four years of its 

establishment, despite all adversities.  

 

As I went to meet the General Manager (Administration) at the 

reception, he took me to the lift and asked me to get in and moved 

swiftly to a side ramp. When I reached the fifth floor, he was there 

in a minute, smiling, to receive me. On being asked as to why he 

did not join me in the lift, he said, ñThe lift is meant for patients. 

No other person, except the Chairman (Cardiologist), the Chief 

Executive, and the Jr. Chief Executive (the Chairmanôs daughter), 

the other General Manager, officers, and staff at various floors use 

it. We go by ramp, may be four-five times a day. If we use the lift, 

the lift operator may give preference to us, not to the patient.ò 

 

When I met the Chief of Food and Beverages who had joined from 

Hotel Chola Sheraton, he said, ñMy experience there is of no use 

here. I have to prepare over 700 unique liquid diets every day for 

close to 300 patients. We have to ensure the diet of not only the 

patient but even guests within a very tight time frame, because if it 

does not, the condition of the patient may be adversely affected.ò 

 

The experience of meeting the Matron in charge of housekeeping 

was no different. She welcomed me but kept on counting bed linens 

and pillow covers. I was getting restless. After about 20 minutes, 

she finished counting and turned to me. ñSorry to keep you waiting. 

What can I do for you?ò she asked. Unable to control myself, I 

asked, ñCould not you attend to me first and then count the bed 

linen? She replied, ñSir, our laundry is unable to take the increased 

load so we have to bank upon the service of outside washer men. I 

had to check the bed linen and pillow covers to be able to issue bed 

linen on time, twice a day.ò  

 

ñWhy donót you issue once in two days or a week or when the 

patient is discharged? In the government hospital in our city, they  








